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Transmit Entertainment Limited
(Stock code: 1326)

Transmit Entertainment Limited is a fully-integrated media and
entertainment company which principally engages in diversified
culture-related businesses including (i) film and TV series production
and distribution; (ii) film exhibition; and (iii) other businesses
(including screenwriting and film direction, internet celebrities and
artiste agency, and pan-entertainment businesses along the value
chain). The Group produces Chinese films, variety shows and TV
series in both mainland China and Hong Kong, as well as carries
out other pan-entertainment businesses. Khorgas Houhai Culture
Media Company Limited (ERRETEELBEEBRAE]) (“"Houhai
Culture”) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group newly acquired in
August 2018) has a professional film and television production team
which mainly focuses on variety shows and TV series. It specialises
in content production, scriptwriting, shooting, post-production,
distribution and marketing. It also owns a substantial amount of
copyrights of various TV series and has been closely cooperating
with tier-one broadcast networks and tier-one online streaming
platforms.

Striving to expand the pan-entertainment business, the Group
has entered into formal contracts with various artiste agencies
and managers, including Yang Yang (#5/%), Song Qian (R#), Wu
Chun ({2 ) along with respective agency teams to add to its talent
pool and enhance its competitive edge and reputation in the film
and television industry across the Greater China region in January
2019. Meanwhile, the Group has also duly entered into contracts
with a renowned scriptwriter Li Xiaoming (Z/J\f8) and new popular
film director Wu Qiang (38) to further improve the strength
in content creation of the Group in June the same year to build
a comprehensive film and television entertainment and culture
empire.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

“Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2019.

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Transmit Entertainment
Limited (“Transmit Entertainment” or the “Company”), | am pleased to
present to you the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the

RARRREEREREER AR ([FRRE |5 [ A A NEFS([EFE]) MAMR
HTIREANANMEMB AR ([ AEE B E2019F6 A30B IFEMEFXE4E o

During the year under review, despite the challenges in the global
economic outlook and the increase of uncertainties, the internet
services industry of the PRC still maintained its momentum
of steady double-digit growth. According to the “Operation of
Internet and Related Service Industries in the First Half of 2019”
(20195 EHF H BB AR RKE EEITIEN) issued by the Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC, the income
from completed businesses of sizable internet enterprises in the
PRC in the first half of 2019 has recorded a year-on-year increase
of 17.9% and amounted to RMB540.9 billion. Of which, benefitted
from the development of mobile communication networks
technology and the increase of research and development
investments by the whole industry, the audio-video services
continued to realize rapid growth in the first half of 2019, the
income from information services including online music and
videos, online games, news and online reading has recorded a
year-on-year increase of 23% and amounted to RMB370.3 billion.

Notably, the internet communication services has achieved a large-
scale tariff reduction and speed upgrade in recent years, which
resulted in the penetration of internet services channels and further
released the potentials of online consumption in markets of the
third- and fourth-tier cities and below. According to the statistics
published by China Internet Network Information Centre, the online
shopping users in the PRC increased from 332 million in June 2014
to 639 million in June 2019, representing a compound annual growth
rate of 13.99%. The proportion of national internet users accounted
by online shopping users has increased in each year from 52.5% in
June 2014 to 74.8% in June 2019. Innovative e-commerce models
such as live recommendation, factory e-commerce and community
retail have integrated online and offline consumption channels
effectively and become new highlights in the growth of online
consumption.
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Leveraging on the penetration of online consumption channels and
the rise of new e-commerce models, Transmit Entertainment has
been exploring diversified realization models proactively through
the expansion of artist groups and the entry into celebrity markets,
so as to broaden our revenue base. Of which, the commencement
of artists and agency business helped the Group to diversify its
business footprint horizontally into the booming popular idol group
industry in area of the PRC’s film and television culture sector, as
well as enhancing the commercial value and brand influence of
the Group continuously. At the same time, the cooperation with
celebrities with over millions of fans will bring huge benefits in
respect of fan group operation, online and offline marketing and
traffic monetization, enabling the Group to develop new young
brand, expand the pan-entertainment business footprint and
increase our profitability. We believe the new business will generate
sustainable synergy with the existing resources on film, television
and variety shows, which can help the Group to closely follow the
preferences and demands of users and explore more potential
development opportunities in the film, television and media industry
while consolidating its existing business foundation, thereby to
deliver better returns to shareholders.

To conclude, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to convey my most sincere gratitude to all our
shareholders, partners and dedicated senior management team
for their long-term care and support and to all the staff for their
unremitting efforts.

Zhang Liang, Johnson
Chairman

25 September 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IR R ST

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in (i) film and TV series production,
distribution and licensing of film rights; (ii) film exhibition; and (iii)
other businesses. The Group mainly produces Chinese films, variety
shows and TV series in both mainland China and Hong Kong. It also
operates five Hong Kong based cinemas. During the year ended
30 June 2019, the Group further realized its strategy of business
diversification and commenced pan-entertainment business,
including production business, artiste and internet celebrity agency
business and business derived from the upstream and downstream
of such businesses.

Film and TV series production and distribution

During the year ended 30 June 2019, film and TV series production
and distribution business remained as the core business of the
Group with reported revenue of approximately HK$415.2 million,
representing a significant increase of approximately 900.6% as
compared to the corresponding period of last year. The Group
released three films during the year under review, including action
blockbuster “L Storm” (LE%) and “The Invincible Dragon” (f1BEF
8%) and general-scale drama film “Lucid Dreams” (J\&} ERRE L),
while two films were released last year, namely “Love Forever” (¥
1F938 BFATEH) and “Tomorrow Is Another Day” (E£1E), in addition
to a sharing of worldwide box office receipts of “S Storm” (S/E ).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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In August 2018, the Group completed the acquisition of Houhai
Culture. Through its collection of intellectual property works with
commercial value, and in-house developed high-quality proprietary
contents, Houhai Culture can independently accomplish a series of
essential operational activities ranging from planning, scriptwriting,
filming, post-production, distribution to marketing, and it strives
to create variety shows and film and television programme that
continue for multiple seasons. During the year under review, the
Group consolidated its accounts for the first time, and recorded
revenue mainly from the broadcasting of the variety show "“Give Me
Five Season II" (F 8V FEE — =) and internet drama “Romance of
the Youth” (&) TH#¥IE), and the copyright and adaptation of the
manga “Hikaru no Go" (1£z8).

Furthermore, the romantic detective reality show developed and
produced by the Group, namely “I Love You, Me Too” (E&UFR * &
1:2), was broadcasted on the online video platform iQIYI during
the year under review and continued to attract widespread attention
and discussion from netizens. A number of fans and numerous well-
known entertainment bloggers actively participated in and followed
up the discussion of the topic in variety show of “I Love You, Me
Too" on Weibo. The programme achieved outstanding performance
in various ranking lists, such as “Weibo Hot Searches"” (fii&&\i&
%), “Maoyan Variety Show Ranking” GEIRAREEE ), “Iqiyi Variety
Show Ranking” (B & B4REEE), “Zhihu Hot Searches” (FITF#E)
and “Douyin Hot Searches” (BI&Z4#). While highly recognized by
the sponsors, the programme has also significantly increased the
brand awareness of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BN DT

Film exhibition

Film exhibition was another key revenue driver for the Group.
During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group operated five
cinemas at different strategic locations across Hong Kong, including
Mong Kok, Chai Wan, Causeway Bay and Tsuen Wan, providing
23 screens and over 3,000 seats. According to the statistics from
Hong Kong Box Office Limited, the Hong Kong box office receipts
posted an increase of approximately 6.4% in the first half of 2019
to approximately HK$1.05 billion. Benefiting from the full operation
of five cinemas, during the year under review, the revenue from
the Group's film exhibition increased by approximately 8.8% to
approximately HK$243.6 million as compared to the corresponding
period of last year, accounting for approximately 36.5% of total
revenue of the Group. Despite the increase in revenue, this business
segment still recorded a loss of approximately HK$11.1 million
due to the relatively low cinema attendance. However, the loss
decreased as compared to approximately HK$97.9 million last year
due to five cinemas being put into full operation during the year
under review.

Given that the Group's cinema in mainland China, located at
“Vivo City” (123), Shanghai, commenced its operation in late
September 2017, its profitability had not been proven and there
were uncertainties as to its financial contributions and prospects.
The Group completed the disposal of this business in July 2018. The
net proceeds from the disposal of HK$21.7 million will be used to
further invest in other business segments as part of the resource
reallocation of the Group.

Others

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the post-production,
advertising, marketing and publication businesses of the Group
recorded a total revenue of approximately HK$9.4 million,
representing an increase of approximately 1.0% as compared to
approximately HK$9.3 million for the corresponding period of last
year. This business segment recorded a loss of approximately
HK$7.9 million during the year under review (2018: loss of
approximately HK$2.8 million). Taken into account the small scale
operation of the post-production business of the Group in the
recent years, the recent market trend and the change in the overall
business strategy of the Group, the Group has disposed of the post-
production business during the year under review.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BN DT

In order to achieve long-term sustainable development, during the
year under review, the Group has formed collaborative relationship
with various artists, internet celebrities, agencies, renowned
scriptwriters and popular directors to make in-depth development in
the film and television industry. Meanwhile, the Group nurtures new
celebrities and develops Multi Channel Network (MCN) business
with vast resources on film and television in channels/internet and
expands its revenue base through developing its self-developed
beauty brand, and thereby promoting the development strategy of
brand diversification and enhancing the Group’s brand awareness in
the industry.

Of which, the joining of Chinese renowned scriptwriter Li Xiaoming
(Z/\BH), famous scriptwriter Shu Huan (3R42) (representative works
include Lost in Thailand (A B 2 Z&HE) and Lost in Hong Kong (4
), well-known scriptwriter Su Biao (#:/%) (representative works
include Jian Bing Man (F18#{%) and City of Rock (4&#4)#£4F%)) and
new popular director Wu Qiang (&&5&) further improves the strength
in content creation of the Group. Li Xiaoming serves as the director
of literature of the Group to provide guidance and support to the
content creation team in terms of script planning. A series of classic
works produced by Li Xiaoming was well published and loved by
audience, including his early works such as “Yearnings” (&%),
“Beijinger in New York” (It R ATE4RAY), “Satisfied” (#BHFE) and
“Love Story in Shanghai” (&R X% E), and modern dramas on
which he served as the producer in recent years such as “ May-
December Love” (A3LK) and “The First Half Of My Life” (B A&IA1¥
A). New popular director Wu Qiang is one of the most recognized
directors in China by young audience and online platforms in recent
years. He is a famous director in China and has been deeply involved
in art and cultural creation in film and television with exquisite and
diligent style. He has directed popular TV dramas such as “Well-
Intended Love” (ZxfilbossZEE %), “"The Eternal Love" (EtEEELR)
and “Diamond Lover” (FER7%A).

Taking into account the recent market trends, the Group will not
enter into further contract negotiation with agencies of Kan Qingzi
(25 F), Zhao Da (if83F), Shi Shi (583%), Zhang Xiaoqgian (REEFE),
Wang Yi (£#), Oscar Jiang ((L#5%), Re Yina (ZK#F), Wu Yue (R
H), Chen Jiaxin (fR%&k), Ma Mengjia (552 %), Liang Siyu (2 &),
Xu Kexin (FFAT8T), You Lixi (BEE844), Dai Yu Dan (R #}) and Wang
Jingyi (£ &18), but will maintain long-term strategic and co-operative
relationships.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BN DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and gross profit

Revenue of the Group for the year under review amounted to
approximately HK$668.1 million, representing a significant increase
of approximately HK$393.5 million or 143.3% as compared to the
corresponding period of last year, mainly contributed by revenue
from the business segments of film and TV series production and
distribution and film exhibition of approximately HK$415.2 million
and HK$243.6 million respectively. During the year under review,
the Group (i) released three films, including “L Storm” (LE%),
a large-scale action film starring Louis Koo (FX%£) and Julian
Cheung (5RE %), “The Invincible Dragon” (J1EE~8), an action
blockbuster starring Max Zhang (55 &) and Anderson Silva, a former
Ultimate Fighting Championship (“UFC"”) middleweight champion,
and directed by Fruit Chan (F£R), and “Lucid Dreams” (\ZF¥=
%), a general-scale drama film starring Kevin Cheng (¥83258),
Louis Cheung (5R#£88), Dada Chan (fR&¥) and Stephy Tang (S k8
fiX) and directed by Teddy Robin (i@ 5), while two films had
been released last year, namely “Love Forever” (F i RAATER)
and “Tomorrow Is Another Day” (&% 1E), in addition to a sharing of
worldwide box office receipts of “S Storm” (S/&.%%); and (ii) recorded
broadcast revenue from the variety show “Give Me Five Season
1" (ee L EEE =) and internet drama “Romance of the Youth”
(DETHEE) produced by Houhai Culture, and obtained revenue
from the copyright and adaptation of the manga “Hikaru no Go" (#
%), thus revenue from film and TV series production and distribution
recorded a significant year-on-year increase of approximately
900.6%. For the film exhibition segment, the revenue for the
year under review recorded an increase of approximately 8.8% as
compared to the corresponding period of last year, which was due to
the full operation of five cinemas in Hong Kong.

Gross profit of the Group was approximately HK$262.3 million
representing an increase of approximately HK$123.8 million or
approximately 89.5% as compared to the corresponding period
of last year. Gross profit margin for the year under review was
approximately 39.3%, which showed a decrease from that of
approximately 50.4% for the corresponding period of last year. The
decrease was mainly attributable to (i) additional revenue recorded
from “S Storm” (S/E.£&) released in Chinese cinemas last year, while
such additional revenue was absent in this year; and (ii) the newly
acquired Houhai Culture operation accounted for approximately
28.5% of the Group's revenue during the year under review while
its gross profit margin was lower than the existing business. Such
changes in sales mix also resulted in lower overall gross profit
margin of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BN DT

Other gains and income

Other gains and income was approximately HK$32.4 million for
the year under review, representing an increase of approximately
HK$16.1 million or approximately 98.9% as compared to the
corresponding period of last year. This was mainly due to the
recognition of the gain on disposal of subsidiaries of approximately
HK$21.1 million during the year ended 30 June 2019.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses slightly increased by approximately
HK$6.6 million or 3.3% from approximately HK$200.6 million for
the corresponding period of last year to approximately HK$207.3
million for the year under review. This was mainly attributable to the
increase of advertising and promotion expenses in film and TV series
production and distribution. Such increase was primarily due to the
growth of relevant advertising and promotion expenses resulting
from the relatively larger production scale of the films released
during the year under review.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses increased by approximately HK$16.3
million or approximately 32.0% from approximately HK$51.0
million for the corresponding period of last year to approximately
HK$67.3 million for the year under review, which was attributable
to (i) the increase of legal and professional fee of approximately
HK$1.0 million related to certain corporate actions and transactions
during the year under review; (ii) the increase of salary expense
of approximately HK$6.3 million during the year under review; and
(iii) ordinary administrative expenses incurred by a newly-acquired
company, Houhai Culture.

Share of results of associates

During the year under review, the Group had two associates,
namely Jade Dynasty Holdings Limited (“JDH" and together with
its subsidiaries, the “JDH Group"”) and Supreme Art Entertainment
Limited (“Supreme Art").

The operation of JDH Group has recorded a loss attributable to
the Group of approximately HK$2.4 million as compared to a loss
attributable to the Group of approximately HK$0.7 million for the
corresponding period of last year. JDH Group generated revenue
from the businesses of comics publication and licensing of its
database of comic stories and comic characters for films, TV
series and theme park development as well as related products
merchandising.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BN DT

The operation of Supreme Art has recorded a profit attributable to
the Group of approximately HK$0.9 million (30 June 2018: profit
attributable to the Group of approximately HK$0.7 million). Supreme
Art is engaged in the provision of artiste management and agency
services which are benefiting from the Group’s film production
business.

Share of results of a joint venture

Bounty Productions Limited (“BPL") was set up by the Group with
two independent third parties for the production and distribution of
the film, “Bounty Hunters” (E& % A), in which the Group owned
40% interest. BPL has recorded a profit attributable to the Group
of approximately HK$0.1 million during the year under review (30
June 2018: profit attributable to the Group of approximately HK$0.4
million).

Loss for the year under review

The Group’s loss and total comprehensive expense attributable
to owners of the Company for the year under review amounted
to approximately HK$35.5 million (2018: loss of approximately
HK$189.8 million) and approximately HK$29.9 million (30 June 2018:
total comprehensive expense of approximately HK$191.1 million)
respectively. The decrease in loss of the Group for the year under
review was mainly due to (i) profit contributed by Houhai Culture;
(i) revenue growth generated from the production and distribution
of film “L Storm” (LE %) and “The Invincible Dragon” (JLEET
B8); and (iii) impairment loss on property, plant and equipment and
investment in film/drama production was recorded in 2018 while no
impairment loss on such items was recorded for the year ended 30
June 2019.

Impairment loss on interests in associates

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group recognized
an impairment loss on interests in associates in the amount of
approximately HK$6,317,000 (30 June 2018: HK$22,295,000) and
HK$10,000,000 (30 June 2018: Nil) in respect of JDH Group and
Supreme Art respectively.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2018/19

JBELBERESAEEREIGEFLEE0IES
(201 8£F6)5]30EI G R A E®0.78
Br) BN FREIENAEESTERIE

=
%ﬂ‘%ﬁ’]ﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁ

Bl —ESEbREEA

$§léﬁiﬁﬂ%ﬁ*k*_7?&4%?%%{£ﬁﬁﬁ

ARI([ES DABHERBETEZ [E2 B A
(REFERETEEI0%ER) - REBEE
NESHSAEEREEMNBE0IEET
(2018F6 A30H : B GEFNEE0LIESE
JL) e

Bl R F E R HE

REBEFERN  NAAHE AEGEAEEE
BER2HEASBRESRNBBIBTET
(20184F : E1BH)E189.8E B L) R4E
20 9B E (201846 A30H : 2EH L4
FHABE191188T) - AEERLOBEFE
%EW’J\IEEEEA' ESX/bERHEF

NEFZ(LER) R(ILETHB) H LMK
%:%%Af&%éﬁmafﬁE’Juﬂz/\i-ﬁﬁﬁﬁz LA
K (i) R2018F M » ME ME&REBANLEE
¥/ BB REEENRESREREBEYS
6028 87T MEZ22019F6HA30H EF
€ BAEE TESSRERIE -

REHE R R ERAVRERE

HZE2019F6 A308 I FE  AEEHR
BEEREERIZENRE L QAN
FEEIE D R4 A 16,317,0007t (2018
F£6H30H : B #22,2950007T) kB
10,000,0007C (20186 A30H : %) -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BN DT

Circumstances leading to the JDH Group impairment

The factors leading to the JDH Group impairment are as
follows:

(a)  the valuation prepared by an independent valuer on the
value of the cash generating units in relation to the entire
equity interest of the JDH Group;

(b)  the shortfall between the actual licensing fees received
under the movie and drama business segment and comic
park project of JDH Group during the year ended 30 June
2019 as compared with the budget previously prepared
for the year. After conducting an overall review on the
movie and drama business and comic park project, the
future estimated cash flows were revised downward
significantly for the impairment assessment conducted
for the year ended 30 June 2019;

(c) the current market condition since mid-2019 and the
future prospects and estimated cash flow and income of
JDH Group for the forthcoming year; and

(d) decrease in value in the cash generating units in relation
to the equity interest of JDH Group compared with the
previous financial year ended 30 June 2018.

Method, basis and key assumptions used in determining the
amount of the JDH Group impairment:

The Group conducted the impairment assessment to JDH
Group in accordance with HKAS 36 annually, and the amount of
JDH Group impairment was determined based on a valuation
prepared by an independent valuer using Discounted Cash
Flow (“DCF") model, which is the same methodology adopted
in the valuation of the investment in JDH Group for the
previous financial year after the Acquisition.

Except for the downward revision of the future estimated cash
flows of JDH Group, there was no material change in the basis,
assumptions and material inputs of the valuation compared
to those previously adopted in the valuation for the previous
financial year ended 30 June 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BN DT

The Company continues to review the operation, performance
and prospects of JDH Group on an ongoing basis and may
consider realizing the investment in JDH Group should suitable
opportunity arises as and when the condition of JDH Group
justifies such realization.

Please also refer to note 17 of the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report for more details of the financial
figures, basis and key assumptions of the valuation.

Circumstances leading to the Supreme Art impairment

The factors leading to the Supreme Art impairment are as
follows:

(a) the valuation prepared by an independent valuer on the
value of the cash generating units in relation to the entire
equity interest of the Supreme Art;

(b)  the expiration of certain artiste management agreements,
resulting in the future estimated cash flows being revised
downward significantly for the impairment assessment
conducted during the year ended 30 June 2019;

(c)  the current market condition since mid-2019 and the
future prospects and estimated cash flow and income of
Supreme Art for the forthcoming year; and

(d) decrease in value in the cash generating units in relation
to the equity interest of the Supreme Art compared with
the previous financial years ended 30 June 2018.

Method, basis and key assumptions used in determining the
amount of the Supreme Art impairment:

The Group conducted the impairment assessment to Supreme
Art in accordance with HKAS 36 annually, and the amount of
Supreme Art impairment was determined based on a valuation
prepared by an independent valuer using DCF model, which
is the same methodology adopted in the valuation of the
investment in Supreme Art for the previous financial year after
the Acquisition.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BN DT

Except for the downward revision of future estimated cash
flows, there was no material change in the basis, assumptions
and material inputs of the valuation compared to those
previously adopted in the valuation for the previous financial
year ended 30 June 2018.

The Company continues to review the operation, performance
and prospects of Supreme Art on an ongoing basis and may
consider realizing the investment in Supreme Art should
suitable opportunity arises as and when the condition of
Supreme Art justifies such realization.

Please also refer to note 17 of the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report for more details of the financial
figures, basis and key assumptions of the valuation.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 30 June 2019, the Group’s bank balances and cash amounted
to approximately HK$122.0 million (30 June 2018: approximately
HK$76.3 million), which are denominated mainly in HK$, United
States Dollar (“US$") and Renminbi (“RMB").

As at 30 June 2019, the Group’s total debts, included bank and
other borrowings, bonds payable and loans from related companies
amounted to approximately HK$65.2 million, approximately HK$22.0
million and approximately HK$226.0 million, respectively (30 June
2018: approximately HK$8.2 million, Nil and Nil, respectively).
As at 30 June 2019, the gearing ratio, representing the ratio
of total debts to the total assets, was approximately 31.6%
(30 June 2018: 2.0%).

On 16 May 2019, the Group and Royston Securities Limited (the
“Placing Agent"”) entered into a placing agreement, pursuant to
which the Placing Agent conditionally agreed to procure, on a
best efforts basis, placees to subscribe in cash for the bonds in
an aggregate principal amount of up to HK$150,000,000 during
the placing period. Details of the placing of bonds are set out in
the announcement of the Group dated 16 May 2019. As at 30
June 2019, the Group's bonds payable amounted to approximately
HK$22.0 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BN DT

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had total non-current assets of
approximately HK$544.9 million (30 June 2018: approximately
HK$165.2 million), net current liabilities of approximately HK$95.8
million (30 June 2018: net current liabilities of approximately
HK$47.8 million) and net assets of approximately HK$86.2 million
(30 June 2018: approximately HK$116.3 million). The current ratio
of the Group, representing the ratio of current assets over current
liabilities, was approximately 0.8 as at 30 June 2019 (30 June 2018:
approximately 0.9).

During the year under review, the Group mainly funded its liquidity
by the net proceeds from the Listing, bank and other borrowings,
bonds, loans from related companies and resources generated
internally. The Group's financial resources are sufficient to support
its business and operations. The Group would also consider other
financing activities when appropriate business opportunities arise
under favourable market conditions.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other
significant investment during the year ended 30 June 2019.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

During the year under review, the Group has acquired the entire
equity interest in Houhai Culture and its subsidiary It REE X
{LfEHAR AT (Beijing Juhai Culture Media Company Limited)
(collectively kown as the “Khorgas Group”) for a consideration
of RMB450,000,000 payable in three instalments in 2018, 2019
and 2020, subject to the profit guarantee as stated in the profit
guarantee agreement as contemplated thereunder the equity
transfer agreement, pursuant to which the vendors have jointly
and severally guaranteed that the consolidated audited profit of the
Khorgas Group in respect of the financial years ending 31 December
2018 and 31 December 2019 will not be less than RMB40,000,000
(the "2018 Profit Guarantee”) and RMB®60,000,000, respectively.
The Board is pleased to announce that the net profit after tax of
the Khorgas Group had exceeded RMB40,000,000 and therefore
the 2018 Profit Guarantee has been fulfilled. The acquisition was
completed on 28 August 2018 and further details were set out in the
circular of the Company dated 26 July 2018.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2018/19

R2019F6A30R  AEBEEIFERDEE
BELBEL44.98 &L (2018F6 H30R -
WE165.28E L) MBBEFELOBE
95.8E & L(2018F6 A30H : mBBGEFEE
HEEATSEE L) REEFHELBS6.2
AEIT(2018F6A30H : 49/ 116.3F 58
JT) ° 20196 A30H - AEBEMREN L
Z(ARBEERRHEENLE)N A0S
(201846 A30H : #90.9) °

REEFER  AEEXTEN ETAEHREA
FEE RITREMER - B KA —HE
BARAEREARERBRNRBES - A%
B HEREAIFHRHEREE - AKE
NEHEHBEEXHHE AN S RTEANE
EREMBEED -

EXRE

BARERAWEEIN  AEEREE2019F
6 A30R L FEAYEE(TEMBEARE -

EANBERHESHE

REBEFER  ~EBDWEESVERE
WB AR REE XL EHAER AR (5HEA
[ERRIEE D2 IRE  REAARE
450,000,0007T * 7220184 ~ 20194 22020
FH=BINM  WARERBREEZRZEET
BOETT 2R MRBIHBZEME EFRE - &
It EAEERRERMIELER  EBR
HEBREZ2018412 A31H & 2019412
ASTB LM BT EMREEEZ=FE DB
TR A RBE40,000,0007T ([ 20184 3 1R
&) M AR¥60,000,0007T c EEESMAT
- ERRITEENBRBEFFEEBBA
R#40,000,0007t © E2018F A FIRFEDS
Epk o WHEEEDN2018F8 A28 Tk &
E—AFEHEHNA LT HEA2018F7 H26
B2ZiBK o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BN DT

On 31 July 2018, the disposal of BE X/LEFE(LB)ER A A
(Shengma Cultural Communication (Shanghai) Company Limited*)
("Shengma Cultural”) was completed and the control of Shengma
Cultural has been passed to the purchasers. Upon completion of
the disposal, Shengma Cultural has ceased to be a subsidiary of the
Group. Details of the disposal are set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 8 May 2018.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not process any material
acquisition or disposal during the year ended 30 June 2019.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 30 June 2019, the Group employed a total of 260 permanent
employees (30 June 2018: 298) in the PRC and Hong Kong. The total
salaries and wages, including the Directors’ remuneration and part-
time workers, amounted to approximately HK$46.2 million for the
year ended 30 June 2019 (30 June 2018: approximately HK$39.9
million).

The Group offers remuneration packages for employees mainly
based on their performance and experience, and with reference
to prevailing industry practices. In addition to enrolling our new
employees into the mandatory provident fund scheme in Hong
Kong and State-managed pension scheme in mainland China and
making contributions for them on a periodic basis, the Group also
provides medical coverage, internal and external training programs
and grants share options and discretionary bonuses to employees
based on employees’ individual performance and the Group's overall
performance. The Group reviews the remuneration policies and
packages on a regular basis.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BN DT

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had bank deposits amounting to
approximately HK$0.7 million (30 June 2018: approximately HK$0.7
million) that were pledged to banks for the bank guarantee provided
to a subsidiary of the Group regarding its due payment under a
cinema equipment rental agreement. The Group's bank borrowings
are secured by trade receivables of RMB32,627,000 (equivalent to
HK$37,195,000) and guaranteed by an insurance company in the
mainland China (2018: a bank deposit of HK$10,000,000 placed to
a bank). Save as mentioned above, the Group had not pledged its
assets to any financial institutions.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group's business operations were conducted mainly in
mainland China and Hong Kong with transactions principally
denominated in HK$, US$ and RMB. The monetary assets and
liabilities are denominated mainly in HKS$, US$ and RMB. Apart
from HKS$, which is pegged to US$, any significant exchange rate
fluctuations of HK$ against RMB may have a financial impact on
the Group. As the foreign exchange risks arising from sales and
purchases can be eliminated against each other, and the fluctuations
of RMB during the year had no significant impact on the costs and
operations of the Group for the year, the Directors do not foresee
significant risk in exchange rate fluctuation. Currently, the Group
has not entered into any financial instrument for hedging purposes.
However, the Group will closely monitor its overall foreign exchange
exposures and interest rate exposures, and consider hedging against
the exposures should the need arise.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

There were no capital commitments for the Group as at 30 June
2018 and 2019.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2018 and 2019, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BN DT

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The planned use of proceeds from the Listing as disclosed in
the prospectus of the Company dated 9 October 2012 (the
“Prospectus”) were based on the best estimation of future
market conditions made by the Group at the time of preparing the
Prospectus, while the proceeds were applied in accordance with the
actual development of the market. From 31 October 2012, being the
date of the Listing, to 31 December 2018, the net proceeds from the
Listing had been applied as follows:
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Expansion of film production business R B R ER 58.4 58.4
Investment in equipment for post- & 1% FABUER A

production 9.8 7.4

Staff recruitment HEST 2.8 2.8

General working capital —MREEES 2.5 2.5

Total a&t 73.5 71.1

The un-utilised proceeds were deposited in the Group's bank
accounts located in Hong Kong.

The Group intended to expand its film production business by
releasing eleven films during the two financial years ended 30 June
2013 and 2014. These eleven films had been all released by the end
of the financial year ended 30 June 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BN DT

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group intended to acquire
colour grading equipment (including a set of colour grading
system, a set of projector and a set of digital video systems real-
time player) for altering and enhancing of colour in the Group's
films and the restoration processing of film negatives, as well as
to acquire restoration and film storage facilities (including a set of
film scanner, a set of raw storage system with 144 terabytes and
a set of digital image restoration system). Up to the financial year
ended 30 June 2016, the abovementioned equipment had been
acquired. Since then, the post-production business of the Group
remained stable in its size and operation. Taken into account the
small scale operation of the post-production business of the Group
in the recent years, the recent market trend and the change in the
overall business strategy of the Group to focus more on its film and
TV series production and distribution, as well as the film exhibition
businesses, the Group has recently disposed of the post-production
business. As such, the Group will not need to further acquire the
said equipment which would be mainly used for the post-production
business, and therefore, to better ultilise idle cash of the Group. The
Group considers it is more reasonable and commercially beneficial
to reallocate and change the use of the remaining balance of the
proceeds of approximately HK$2.4 million as general working
capital. As at 30 June 2019, the reallocated total use of proceeds
from the Listing has been applied as follows:
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Actual use of
proceeds from
the date of the

Reallocated total
use of proceeds

from the Listing to

Listing 30 June 2019

REHFAEZ mRETABER

EHFTBEIE 2019568300 FiiE

FREAE JEERERASE

HK$ million HK$ million

BERETT BEBEET

Expansion of film production business iR & &/ 2/EE£TE 58.4 58.4
Investment in equipment for post- TE % ARUER A

production 7.4 7.4

Staff recruitment HRIEEET 2.8 2.8

General working capital —REBEES 4.9 2.5

Total &R 73.5 71.1

For the avoidance of doubt, other proceeds from the Listing has
been applied in accordance with the Group’s plan as disclosed in the
Prospectus.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BN DT

OUTLOOK

Looking forward, the Group is committed to realizing the
development strategy of brand diversification and actively develops
its self-owned brand to broaden the revenue base through the
celebrity market. The Group targets the beauty market that is
greatly concerned by female audience and will invite a number of
popular internet celebrities in beauty field to join the Group. The
Group will tap into the film and television intellectual property (IP)
derived products and e-commerce industry by developing its self-
owned brand, and will nurture new celebrities and develop Multi
Channel Network (MCN) business with vast resources on film and
television in channels/internet. By cooperating with celebrities
with over millions of fans, the Group is able to maintain excellent
long-term interaction with targeted fan groups in a bid to develop
and promote its self-developed beauty brand and form a complete
business cycle. The management of the Group believes that the
impressive performance and extensive experience of the celebrities
on fan group operation, online and offline marketing and traffic
monetization will enable the Group to rapidly develop its self-owned
consumer brand and expand the pan-entertainment business. The
Group will invite more popular celebrities to join us. It is expected
the new business will generate sustainable synergy with the
existing resources on film, television and variety shows and thereby
creating a broad space for development for the Group in the field of
pan-entertainment consumption.

In respect of the film and TV series production and distribution, a
number of copyright projects of the Group are currently under pre-
production stage, including “Redemption on the Blade"” (7]$% FHI
f&), a mystery detective drama, who is the screenwriter of “White
Night Chase"” (AT&ENX); “Mrs Hu Zhu" (fl¥kkA), a TV series
with the copyright of Jiuzhou series, and starring Yang Mi (152); an
internet variety show “Be An Influencer” (2% & E); “Persuader”
(R 275 2 #158M), a TV series written by Shu Huan (3R}2) and to be
produced by Feng Xiaogang (/) \@l), the script of which is about to
complete.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BN DT

Moreover, the Group has reached agreements with some popular
copyright owners, and will develop, produce and publish work series
for the following copyrights, including “Locard's theory” (&<
FE12), a Japanese TV series; “Love Destiny” (EBXE), a Thai TV
series; novels including “Imperial Harem” (45 » E/&/&), “Next To
The Last Girlfriend” (81818 —{@%BE/&), “Romance in the City" (¥
BWE A), “Turn Red into Green” (FARAE), “The Flower Throne” (f
TEEFE) and "Her Warfare” (#R&RI8, ) etc.

For variety shows, the romantic detective reality show developed
and produced by the Group namely, “I Love You, Me Too" (Z&{K
FthE) has ended on 26 June 2019. With the good performance
and network popularity of the first season, the Group is considering
to produce the second season of “l Love You, Me Too" in order to
create a self-developed multi-season variety show brand. In addition,
the third season of “Give Me Five"” (&8¢ E), a proprietary
variety brand will be continued to launch with two seasons
broadcasted. “National Game Carnivals” (&R ##EiF=FE), a new
gaming variety show, is also under development.

The Group will continue to explore opportunities in relation to the
development of the film, television and media industry leveraging
its outstanding film production capabilities, especially cooperation
opportunities derived from the upstream and downstream of the
industry chain, with an aim to strengthen the Group's income base.
With the joining of these famous KOLs, the Group will develop
its self-owned beauty brand and gradually expand the scale of the
film and television intellectual property (IP) derived products and
e-commerce industry, so as to diversify its operation, enhancing its
profitability and generating satisfactory returns for the shareholders
of the Group.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SRk EERHE

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 38, was appointed
as an executive Director and the chairman of the Board on 13
December 2017. Mr. Zhang is responsible for the overall corporate
and business development and strategic direction of the Group, and
provides leadership for the Board of Directors. He is an entrepreneur
in various industries, including real estate and energy etc. Mr.
Zhang has more than 8 years of experience in the energy sector.
He is a controlling shareholder and an executive director of Kinetic
Mines and Energy Limited (stock code: 1277), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) which principally engages in coal production
and coal trading. Mr. Zhang is also a controlling shareholder and an
executive director of Brainhole Technology Limited (formerly known
as Top Dynamic International Holdings Limited) (stock code: 2203), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Zhang
has more than 10 years of experience in the real estate sector. He
is a director of Seedland Construction Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong on 15 July 2008 with limited liability
which, through its subsidiaries, principally engaged in real estate
business.

Ms. Zhao Wenzhu (“Ms. Zhao”), aged 34, joined the Company
as the President of the Company on 17 September 2018 and
was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 26
November 2018. She holds a Master of Filmography from the
Communication University of China. Ms. Zhao has about 10 years
of experience in mass communications. She is a dynamic leader
with broad exposure and has spearheaded growth initiatives in her
different roles in various companies in mass communication. Ms.
Zhao is currently the general manager of Houhai Culture. Prior to
this, she was the deputy director of Dongyang Sansang Media
Co., Ltd.* (5= mEHKH AR F]) until 2013. She was also the
distribution director and vice-president of Beijing Xishiji Film and
Televison Culture Development Co., Ltd.* (it RA& 40 2248 (b 2%
BAMRAF]) in 2014 and the general manager and vice-president
of the department of filmography and television of Nanjing Avenue
Hengzhi Culture Media Co., Ltd.* (B R KB TH XL EEBR
A |} ) from 2014 to 2016. She gained abundant experience by
participating in many television entertainment shows and television
series before, including “Three Kingdoms" ((=E)), “Long Trip to
Beautiful Rivers and Mountains” ({(FE,ILU)), “The Lost Tomb"
KHBEZER)), "Go Fighting” ((IRRBEB)) and “Give Me Five” K&
g EE)).

*  For identification only
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Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick, (“Mr. Lee”) aged 44, was appointed
as an executive Director on 1 December 2017. Mr. Lee has over 16
years of experience in the financial services industry. He obtained
a Bachelor of Business degree from the La Trobe University,
Melbourne Victoria Australia in 1997. During the period from 1997
to 2006, he was employed by HSBC Broking Securities (Asia) Ltd
with his last position as a vice president. He was also a type 4
(advising on securities), type 5 (advising on futures contracts), type
6 (advising on corporate finance) and type 9 (asset management)
licensed representative of the HSBC group from 2003 to 2004, and a
type 1 (dealing in securities), type 2 (dealing in futures contracts) and
type 3 (leveraged foreign exchange trading) licensed representative
of the HSBC group from 2003 to 2006. He then worked as the
personal assistant of Mr. Zhang, an existing executive Director and
the chairman of the Board and the controlling shareholder of the
Company, from 2006 to 2011. Since 2011, he has been employed as
a financial analyst by Kinetic (Asia) Limited which is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Kinetic Mines and Energy Limited (stock code: 1277), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, of which
Mr. Zhang is an executive director and a controlling shareholder.
Since 2016, he has also been a director of Seedland Construction
Holdings Limited, a company indirectly wholly owned by Mr. Zhang.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Bo (“Mr. Wang”), aged 43, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 13 December 2017. Mr.
Wang has over 21 years of experience in financing and insurance
industry. He received from the Sun Yat-Sen University in China his
Bachelor of International Accounting degree minoring in international
finance in June 1998. He was the general manager of Guangdong
Baolihua New Energy Stock Co., Ltd. (stock code: 000690), a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange from August 2015
to March 2018. From July 1998 to June 2015, he was employed
by Guangdong Finance Investment (Holding) Corporation Limited
with his last position as the deputy general manager in the financial
planning department. During the course of employment with
Guangdong Finance Investment (Holding) Corporation Limited, he
also served as the deputy general manager of Guangdong Finance
Trust Company Limited, the director of Zhong Cheng Vehicle
Insurance Company Limited and Zhu Jiang Life Insurance Company
Limited, and the supervisor in Guangdong Guanhao High-tech Co.,
Ltd. (stock code: 600433), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange.
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Mr. Xiang Feng (“Mr. Xiang”), aged 42, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 13 December 2017. Mr.
Xiang has over 14 years of experience in the movie industry. He
received his Bachelor of Economics degree from the University of
International Business and Economics in China in July 1998 and
his Master of Arts in Media Production degree from the Griffith
University in Australia in April 2005. He has been a general manager
of Funtasy Pictures Co., Ltd. since February 2015. He has also
been a supervisor of Fengzhimeng Visual Media Culture (Beijing)
Company Limited from October 2013 to March 2019. Previously
he has served as the chief operating officer of the Entgroup from
March 2009 to September 2010. Mr. Xiang was also the executive
producer of the movie “No Liar, No Cry"”, the art director interpreter
of the movie “the Mummy, Tomb of the Dragon Emperor”, the
script planner of the movie “Cities in Love", the bilingual production
coordinator of the movie “Up in the Wind", and the line producer of
the movie “Last Flight”.

Mr. Chang Eric Jackson (“Mr. Chang”), aged 39, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 13 December 2017.
Mr. Chang has over 16 years of experience in accounting, finance
and business advisory work. He received his Bachelor of Commerce
degree from the University of British Columbia in May 2002. He is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since September 2005 and the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since January 2005. Mr. Chang has been an
independent non-executive director of Season Pacific Holdings Ltd
(stock code: 1709), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange since May 2018. Mr. Chang is currently the chief financial
officer, company secretary and an authorised representative of
China Tangshang Holdings Limited (previously known as Culture
Landmark Investment Limited) (stock code: 674), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since April 2017. He was
also a non-executive director of Sino Vision Worldwide Holdings
Limited (previously known as DX.com Holdings Limited) (stock
code: 8086), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange,
from May 2017 to July 2018. From July 2015 to April 2017, Mr.
Chang served as the executive director, chief financial officer, joint
company secretary and authorised representative of ZH International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 185), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Zhang Tingting (“Ms. Zhang”), aged 41, joined Houhai Culture
on 1July 2018. Ms. Zhang is currently the deputy general manager
of Houhai Culture and the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Si Li
Culture Media Limited* (KE{EEE N XLEHEER AT, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group. She obtained a Bachelor's degree in
journalism from Communication University of China and did further
study at Peking University of China and the University of Cambridge
of the United Kingdom. Ms. Zhang has over 20 years of experience
in the media and film and television industry, during which she
was responsible for the production and direction as well as the
arrangement and operation of channels of Anhui TV, established the
branding department and was in charge of the broadcasting channel
operation and the national promotion of various projects, such as
Mao Ren Chao Ji Mei Li Host Show (“Si AEBRE N ERFE") (the
promotion of artists like Liu Yan, Xie Nan and Shi Yang), Domestic TV
Series Ceremony and the New Four Great Classical Novels.

Mr. Ma Jin (“Mr. Ma”), aged 36, joined Houhai Culture on 1
December 2017. Mr. Ma is currently the deputy general manager of
Houhai Culture and an executive Director of Tianjin Miu Si Culture
Media Limited* (X )Z 2 H XL EHE R 2 7)), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group. He graduated from Zhejiang University
of Technology with a Bachelor degree in Law and obtained a
professional certificate in production and direction from the academy
of visual arts of the Shanghai Fudan University. Mr. Ma has over
7 years of experience in variety shows and the film and television
industry. From 2012 to 2015, he has been the assistant of general
manager of Blue Star Company under the Zhejiang Radio and TV
Group as well as being responsible for and participating in the
production, planning and promotion of variety show “Running Man”
((FHIELZE)) as well as movies like “Running Man” ({(FHIE 7,
Z)), “Monster Hunt” ((#MZK3)). From 2015 to November 2016, he
was the general manager of TV entertainment show department of
the Beijing Jingxi Culture & Tourism Co., Ltd (stock code: 000802.
SZ) who was responsible for the content production and artist
arrangement of Dragon TV's variety shows “Go Fighting” (1% R
PKBL)) and "Girls Fighting” ({IHRZEA %)), He was the executive
filmmaker of Zhejiang TV's “Give Me Five” (S 4E4FE)) Season |
and Il as well as the executive filmmaker of iQlY| love programme “I
Love You, Me Too” ({ZER » Fth=Z)).

*  For identification only
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Mr. Wang Jun, aged 38, joined Houhai Culture on 1 April 2017.
Mr. Wang Jun is currently the deputy general manager of Houhai
Culture, the vice-president of Guangzhou Daide Management
Consultancy Company Limited (“Guangzhou Daide"”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, the general manager of Tianjin
Chuan Di Zhong Xing Entertainment Limited* (RZ2FEEREIRES
B2 2 ®]) and the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Wei Lai Culture
Media Limited* (K Z{HIERR XL FEHABR Q7). He graduated
from the Business School of the University of Shanghai for Science
and Technology with a bachelor’s degree in management. Mr. Wang
Jun has 15 years of experience in the film and television industry
and was the vice president of Cathay Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd. from
2014 to 2016, of which he was responsible for the production and
marketing of TV dramas, namely “Gods of Honour” ({£##)) and
“The Condor Heroes” ((1#&E{R{5)). From 2013 to 2014, he was the
marketing director of F AR B PR F] and was responsible for
the production and marketing of the TV drama namely “Bu Bu Jing
Qing” ((F#E1E)) as well as the promotion of artists like Hu Ge,
Liu Shishi and Gulinazha. He was the promotion director of it R &&
ZEFMRBMAR AT who was responsible for TV dramas, namely
“the Dream of the Red Chamber” ((4T#£22)), “Ma La Po Xi" (iR
218)) and movies like “Gongfu Xia” ({ZhX %)) and “Door” ({F9))
as well as the promotion of artists ranging from Chen Kun, Yang Mi,
Yang Yang and Li Qin.

Mr. He Xian (“Mr. He"), aged 33, joined Houhai Culture on 26
October 2016. Mr. He is currently the producer of Houhai Culture
and the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Kua Ke Culture
Media Limited* (RKEFIES 7= XL EHEEFR AR, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group. He graduated from the Communication
University of China with a Master’s degree in filming. Mr. He has
8 years of experience in the film and television industry, of which
he was in charge of film and television program planning and
distribution in Dongyang Sansang Media Co., Ltd.* (R[5 = & X{t&E
/X 7)) and was responsible for the post-production and overseas
distribution of the movie version of “New Romance of the Three
Kingdoms” ({1 =& )) from 2011 to 2014. He was the producer
of Nanjing Avenue Hengzhi Culture Media Co., Ltd.* (B R KETT
ML EHEABRAF) from 2014 to 2016, during which he was the
executive producer of “Singing All Along” ({(EETILZ £IIT)),
the executive producer of TV drama “Naughty Grandfather and
Grandson” (A & 58 7)), the executive producer of web drama
“The Lost Tomb" ((BEZEEC)), the joint producer of movie “Bad
Guys Always Die” ((EZEWMZE5)) and the executive producer of
“Go Fighting — Royal Treasure” ((IGFR k8 2 EREH )). He is
currently responsible for web dramas namely “Hikaru no Go" ({1
32)), “Persuader” ({25 Z28):iRAT)) and “Love Destiny” ((EH
RED).

*  For identification only
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Mr. Li Xiaoming (“Mr. Li”), aged 63, joined the Group on 15
June 2019 and is currently the director of literature of the Group.
He graduated from Beijing Normal University with a Bachelor's
degree in Chinese language in 1982. Mr. Li is a Chinese renowned
scriptwriter, from 1982 to 2010, he worked for Beijing TV Art Center
as the deputy director, and served as the script producer in Xinli
Media and Limon Pictures. His classic works, including his early
works such as “Yearnings” ((JBE)), “Beijinger in New York” ({it
RATEAADD), “Satisfied” (CiBIEFE)) and “Love Story in Shanghai”
(BB EBRXER)), and modern dramas on which he served as the
producer in recent years such as “May-December Love"” ({ A K))
and “The First Half Of My Life” ((EBIRIH4ED).

Ms. Lau Yee Wa (“Ms. Lau”) was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company and the authorized representative under
Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules on 4 April 2018. Ms. Lau has over 20
years of experience in the corporate secretarial field and provides
professional corporate services to Hong Kong listed companies as
well as multinational, private and offshore companies. Ms. Lau is
a Chartered Secretary and an Associate of both The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom. She holds
a Bachelor's degree in Business Administrative Management from
University of South Australia. Ms. Lau is a senior manager of the
corporate services division of Tricor Services Limited.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30
June 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities and other particulars of the Company's
subsidiaries are set out in note 47 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business for the year ended 30 June
2019, a discussion on the Group's future development in business
and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the
Group may be facing are set out in the Chairman’s Statement on
pages 6 to 7 and the Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 8 to 24 of this annual report. The capital risk management and
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
set out in notes 41 and 42 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively. An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
under review using financial key performance indicators is set out
in the Financial Summary on pages 291 to 292 of this annual report.
This discussion forms part of this report.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group respects the environment and is committed to the
sustainable development of the environment and the society. For
details of the Group's environmental policies and performance
during the year under review, please refer to the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report on pages 75 to 104 of this annual
report.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws,
rules and regulations. The Company seeks to ensure adherence to
such laws, rules and regulations through various measures such as
internal controls, approval procedures, staff trainings and overseeing
the business operations at different levels of the Group. The Board
also monitors the Group's policies and practices on compliance with
relevant laws, rules and regulations on a regular basis.
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So far as the Directors and senior management are aware of, for
the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group has obtained the requisite
approvals, permits, consents, licences and registrations for its
business and operations.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of the Group during
the year ended 30 June 2019.

Key relationships with employees, customers
and suppliers

The Group believes that its success depends on the support from
key stakeholders which comprise employees, customers and
suppliers.

The Group recognises that employees are the valuable assets of the
Group. The Group has complied with the applicable employment
laws and regulations and periodically review the remuneration
package of the Group's employees with reference to market
conditions and conform to the performance, qualifications and
experience of employees.

The key customers of the Group include the co-producers,
distributors and cinemagoers. The Group is committed to providing
good quality service to its customers and enhance the loyalty of the
customers by increasing the interaction with customers through
social media platforms particularly in film exhibition business, which
provide good development to the Group's overall performance in the
long run.

The Group has maintained solid and good relationships with its

suppliers which ensures quality supply so as to provide high quality
films and services to customers.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 30 June 2019 is set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 112 to 113 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the year ended 30 June 2019 (30 June 2018: Nil).
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of the segment information of the Group are set out in note
6 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the past five financial years as extracted from the
consolidated financial statements in the annual reports 2014/15,
2015/16, 2016/17 and 2017/18 and this annual report, respectively
are set out on pages 291 to 292 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings during the year ended 30 June 2019 are
set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements of the
Group (30 June 2018: HK$8,208,000).

CAPITALISATION OF INTEREST

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 30
June 2019 (30 June 2018: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year ended 30 June 2019 are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of other equity-linked agreements are included in the section
headed "“Share Option Scheme” in this report.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year ended 30 June 2019 are set out in note 46 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 116 of this annual report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 June 2019, the Company's reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law,
Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately HK$34,036,000 (30
June 2018: HK$89,279,000).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the
year ended 30 June 2019.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 30 June 2019, income received/
receivable from the top five customers in aggregate accounted
for approximately 48.8% of the Group’s revenue (30 June 2018:
12.6%). During the same period, income received/receivable from
the single largest customer accounted for approximately 11.7% of
the Group's revenue (30 June 2018: 10.1%).

The significant percentage increase in income received/receivable
from the top five customers was due to the significant amounts of
revenue generated from our customers of Houhai Culture during
the year under review. Such revenue was mainly related to the
variety show “Give Me Five Season II" (285 FEFE —ZF), internet
drama “Romance of the Youth" (4 E/Iﬁﬁﬂ%m), and copyright and
adaptation of the manga “Hikaru no Go" ({£z%).

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the fees paid/payable to the
top five suppliers in aggregate constituted approximately 18.8%
(30 June 2018: 37.0%) of the Group's total fees paid/payable to the
suppliers. During the same period, fees paid/payable to the largest
supplier constituted approximately 3.4% (30 June 2018: 10.7%) of
the Group's total fees paid/payable to the suppliers.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates or any
shareholder of the Company (who to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the share capital of the Company) had any
interest in any of the top five customers and suppliers.
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EMOLUMENTS POLICY AND PENSION
SCHEMES

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) after considering factors such as the Company’s
operating results, individual performance, salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group.

The remuneration of the employees of the Group is determined with
reference to market terms and the performance, qualifications and
experience of the individual employee.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
as an incentive to Directors and eligible employees who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. Details of the Scheme
are set out in the following section headed “Share Option Scheme”
in this annual report. The Group has also adopted other employee
benefit schemes which include a provident fund scheme for
its employees in Hong Kong, as required under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, and has participated in
employee pension schemes organised and governed by the relevant
local governments for its employees in the PRC.

Details of the emolument of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates the Scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible persons who contribute to the
success of the Group's operations. The Scheme was approved by
the then sole shareholder of the Company on 5 October 2012. There
were no outstanding share options under the Scheme as at 30 June
2018 and 2019. No share options have been granted, exercised or
cancelled/lapsed under the Scheme during the years ended 30 June
2018 and 2019. Details of the Scheme are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year under review, other than the share option scheme
as set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” of this
annual report, the Company did not enter into any other equity-linked
agreement, nor did any other equity-linked agreement exist during
the year under review.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 30 June 2019 and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (Chairman)

Ms. Zhao Wenzhu (appointed on 26 November 2018)
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick

Mr. Wong Pak Ming (resigned on 1 April 2019)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Bo
Mr. Xiang Feng
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from
office by rotation and shall be eligible for re-election. Every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick and Mr. Wang Bo will retire by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting, and being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting.

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Company’s Articles of Association,
any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
Accordingly, Ms. Zhao Wenzhu who was appointed by the Board
during the year ended 30 June 2019, will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer herself for re-
election at the annual general meeting.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management of the
Group are disclosed in the section headed "“Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 25 to 30 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson, Ms. Zhao Wenzhu and Mr. Lee
Hin Kwong, Patrick, being all the existing executive Directors, had
each entered into with the Company a service contract for an initial
fixed term of one year, three years and three years commencing
from 13 December 2017, 26 November 2018 and 1 December 2017
respectively renewable automatically until (i) terminated by not less
than respectively one month’s, two months’ and one month’s notice
in writing served by either party on the other expiring at the end of
the initial term or any time thereafter or (ii) not being re-elected at
an annual general meeting of the Company at which he retires and
offers for re-election.

Mr. Wong Pak Ming (“Mr. Wong") had entered into with the
Company a service contract as an executive Director of the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from 31
October 2012 and renewable automatically and until (i) terminated
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
party on the other expiring at the end of the initial term or any time
thereafter or (i) not being re-elected at an annual general meeting
of the Company at which he retires and offers for re-election. The
aforesaid service contract had ceased upon Mr. Wong's resignation
as an executive Director of the Company on 1 April 2019.

Each of Mr. Wang Bo, Mr. Xiang Feng and Mr. Chang Eric Jackson,
being all the independent non-executive Directors during the year
under review, had respectively renewed a letter of appointment with
the Company in 2018. Each letter of appointment is for a term of one
year from the date of the letter of appointment.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed
to enter into a service contract/letter of appointment with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries (other than contracts expiring or
determinable by the Group within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation)).
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Details of Directors’ interest in transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business are set
out in the section headed “Related Party Transactions/Connected
Transactions/Continuing Connected Transactions” in this annual
report and note 45 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other than as disclosed above, there was no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company
or its subsidiaries, or its holding companies or any of its fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the
end of the year ended 30 June 2019.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements
of which certain Directors engaged in film-related businesses, none
of the Directors or the controlling shareholders of the Company or
their respective associates as defined in the Listing Rules has any
interest in any business which competes or may compete with the
business of the Group during the year ended 30 June 2019.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the businesses of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 30 June 2019.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Saved as disclosed above, there is no contract of significance
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 30 June
2019.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 30 June 2019, the interests of Directors and chief executive of
the Company in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO) and required to be entered in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which were
required, pursuant to Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules relating
to securities transactions by the Directors, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Position in shares and underlying shares of the
Company

Company/name of

Name of Director associated company  Nature of interest

underlying Shares

EERTHRAEBRARARER
BrENRD  HERORES
MEZR AR

R2019F6 A30R * EFE R ARRITTHAER
RARQ RS E AR EE (EERFEHF RS
EIEON( 7 H R EEEG ) EXVE) D
HERND P HEEAREES MAEEGIEXV
45%7&8’“45%%;{%] NN RSy = 0L
=(BREREBEEFLAEGRINEEEXES %ﬁ
EEXERERNEZR) - RAREREAR
RIBFE F K HE &0 2 352 % ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%&%ﬂﬂﬂ
Wiz - S ERE EMBRANSE T EEES
ETEFRZINBR TS ARG LR
HEZSAOT ¢

RAD TR RAABRDWA

Number of
Shares or

Approximate
percentage of

Position the interest

BEspg AQR/HBATERE EEME ROSEARDHE A BAEZADL
Mr. Zhang Liang, Company Interest in a 1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%

Johnson NN controlled corporation (Note) &

RE AL REEEE RS (Ff=E)

Company Beneficial owner 87,984,000 Long 3.39%

ARE EnfAA e
1,924,375,914 74.14%

Note: MIsEE -

These shares are registered in the name of Nice Rich Group Limited (“Nice
Rich”), the entire issued share capital of which is legally and beneficially
owned as to 100% by Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson. Under the SFO, Mr. Zhang
Liang, Johnson is deemed to be interested in all the shares registered in the
name of Nice Rich.

ZE MR DE M Nice Rich Group Limited([ Nice
Richl)®& T » MRELESERE % B Nice
Richz 2B EITIRA - IRIEFHF RBAEEL - &
BEEWR BELHNice Rich& T 22 MHF
AR -

I8
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2019, the interests of the persons, other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of Directors or chief
executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company were
as follows:

TERRRADARG RAEBER

HEER AR

MN2019%F6 A308 * A FAT(E

XA EEH

BEEHARAITHRABREMERIRIN RARF]

Betn R ARRA B0 B B RIRE
PIEXVERE2 3D ERE A E A
FrE S - RSN AR ARE

% R I
AR BB
BHREE

ROIEI3CEMIFEECMAER - AR

T RAEARRFEE

Number of Approximate
Shares or percentage of
Name of shareholder Nature of interest underlying Shares  Position interest
REER/#E BHtE ROGEBEROEE &l BHREEAL
Nice Rich!"&@ Beneficial owner 1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%
Nice Richt & ERBERA 72
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson Interest in a controlled corporation 1,836,391,914m&@ | ong 70.75%
RELE REEERER e
Beneficial owner 87,984,000  Long 3.39%
EnEAA )
China Orient Asset Interest in a controlled corporation 1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%
Management Co., Ltd. (“China W AEER e
Orient")®
B R A EERR
BRAR(THERR )2
Dong Yin Development (Holdings) Interest in a controlled corporation 1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%
Limited (“Dong Yin")? R EE R e
REERER)ERAA(RR))?
Wise Leader Assets Ltd. Interest in a controlled corporation 1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%
[“Wise Leader")? REEEE R )
Wise Leader Assets Ltd.
(TWise Leader])?
China Orient Asset Interest in a controlled corporation 1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%
Management (International) Holding ~ A& & %EER e
Limited (“China Orient Int'|")?
hERAAEEE(ER)
BREBAR ([ RERAER])?
Charming Treasure Person having a security interest in shares 1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%

Investments Ltd.
(“Charming Treasure")?
Charming Treasure
Investments Ltd.
(TCharming Treasure)?

REGEREFRE AL

e
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Notes:

1. Nice Rich is a British Virgin Islands company wholly owned by Mr.
Zhang Liang, Johnson. Under the SFO, Mr. Zhang is deemed to be
interested in all the shares registered in the name of Nice Rich.

2. 1,836,391,914 shares were charged by Nice Rich as chargor and
Charming Treasure as chargee as security interest on 30 May 2018.
Charming Treasure is wholly owned by China Orient Int’l. China Orient
Int’l is owned as to 50% by Dong Yin and 50% by Wise Leader. Both
Wise Leader and Dong Yin are wholly owned by China Orient. By
virtue of the SFO, each of the China Orient, Dong Yin, Wise Leader,
China Orient Int'l is deemed to be interested in all the shares held by
Charming Treasure as security interest.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2019, the Company had not
been notified by any persons (other than Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO to be disclosed
to the Company, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

B AT

1.

Nice RichBHEELETER B EER
ZHENTF - BEFHFRBAEEA - REE
R ANBE DM Nice Rich®& T 2B KD
REERER o

Nice Rich(fEA# 2 A) R 20184 5A30H
| Charming Treasure (£ & & # 50 A) Uk
H21,836,391,914 B D 1E AT H = -
Charming Treasure i Bl 3 5 Bl 2 &
B o PEIRTT B B RR EWise Leaders
RIFEB50% %50% KX - Wise Leader &
RIAEPEARAFZERES - REFHFRS
EiE0 - PREEF - RIE - Wise Leader
B R T B R & B #48 & 5 Charming
Treasure T2 ER M R HEA ERIE R
2R o

Br EXCPATIEEE SN - 7201996 A30H © A&
NE A ABEM AL (BRI ARRITHRE
HBRIN) AR R AR5 s R RE AR (0 P B 2B AR
BES RS GG EXVENE2 R3D B8 E A
ARARPWENERIAR  KARERAR
RIREBEES RS KN EI6IEMTEERT
fevkEs AR -
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RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the sections headed “Share Option
Scheme” and "“Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations” in this annual report, at
no time during the year ended 30 June 2019 was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of the
Company or their respective close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in the
SFO or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company's Articles of Association provides that the Directors
and officers shall be indemnified out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses with they shall or may incur or sustain by or
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions
against the Directors and senior management of the Group that may
be incurred in the course of performing their duties.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard
of corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 55 to 74 of this annual
report.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS/CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group during the year
ended 30 June 2019 are set out in note 45 to the consolidated
financial statements. All of these related party transactions are
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions fully
exempted under Rule 14A.76(1) of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Contractual Arrangements

Guangzhou Daide Management Consultancy Company Limited
("Guangzhou Daide"), through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Houhai
Culture as operating company and its subsidiary (the “Khorgas
Group"), is principally engaged in TV entertainment show and TV
program production and operation (including introduction business).
Guangzhou Daide is a limited liability company established under the
laws of the PRC and is owned as to 99% by Mr. TANG Jimin (“Mr.
Tang”) (BE48%) and 1% by Ms. WANG Qinyang (“Ms. Wang") (£5&
[%), being the equity owners of Guangzhou Daide nominated by the
Company (the “PRC Equity Owners").

On 27 May 2018, Guangzhou Huohua Investment Company
Limited (“Guangzhou Huohua"), Guangzhou Daide and the PRC
Equity Owners entered into the VIE acquisition agreement (the
“VIE Acquisition Agreement”), pursuant to which the parties shall
upon completion enter into the VIE operating agreements. VIE
operating agreements comprised the exclusive operation service
agreement, the exclusive option agreements, the entrustment
agreements and powers of attorney, the equity pledge agreements
and the loan agreement (collectively are referred to as the “VIE
Operating Agreements”). Under the VIE Operating Agreements,
Guangzhou Huohua will have effective control over the finance and
operation of Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture and will enjoy
the entire economic interests and benefits generated by Guangzhou
Daide and the Khorgas Group from completion (the “Contractual
Arrangements”), for a cash consideration of RMB450,000,000
(subject to any downward adjustment as contemplated by the profit
guarantee agreement).
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Financial contribution of the Khorgas Group to
the Group

The aggregate revenues of the Khorgas Group that were attributable
to the Group through the VIE Operating Agreements amounted to
approximately HK$190,670,000 for the year ended 30 June 2019. As
at 30 June 2019, the net assets attributable to the Khorgas Group
were approximately HK$101,831,000.

Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements

Houhai Culture is a limited liability company established under the
laws of the PRC and is principally engaged in TV entertainment show
and TV program production and operation (including introduction
business). Pursuant to the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding
Foreign Investment (2017 revised version) ({/NEREEXIEER
$%(20174123]))) (the “Catalogue”) promulgated by the Ministry
of Commerce, the principal business of Houhai Culture, falls
within the prohibited industry for foreign investment. In light of the
abovementioned foreign ownership restriction, in order to comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations and obtain the entire
economic benefits attributable to the Khorgas Group, Guangzhou
Huohua (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), Guangzhou
Daide and the PRC Equity Owners entered into the VIE Acquisition
Agreement, pursuant to which the parties agreed to enter into
the VIE Operating Agreements upon completion. Under the VIE
Operating Agreements, Guangzhou Huohua will have effective
control over the finance and operation of Guangzhou Daide and the
Khorgas Group and will enjoy the entire economic interests and
benefits generated by Guangzhou Daide and the Khorgas Group
from completion. No other approval is required to be obtained and no
other additional eligibility standards is required to be fulfilled by the
Khorgas Group under the arrangements as contemplated under the
VIE Operating Agreements.

Requirements related to Contractual
Arrangements (other than relevant foreign
ownership restrictions)

Investment activities in the PRC by foreign investors are primarily
regulated by the Catalogue, which was promulgated and is amended
from time to time jointly by the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC
(the "MOFCOM") and the National Development and Reform
Commission of the PRC. The Catalogue divides industries into four
categories in terms of foreign investment, including “encourage”,
“restricted” and “prohibited”, and all industries not listed under any
of these categories are deemed to be “permitted”. Pursuant to the
Catalogue, the business that the Khorgas Group currently operates
falls into the category of “prohibited”. Therefore, as Guangzhou
Huohua is a foreign-owned company, it is not allowed to hold any
equity interests of Houhai Culture under the PRC laws.
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The PRC legal advisers, after taking all reasonable and possible
actions and steps to reach its legal conclusions, are of the following
legal opinion:

- the VIE Operating Agreements are narrowly tailored to achieve
the business purposes of the Company and minimise the
potential for conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations;

- each of Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and the
members of the Khorgas Group are duly established and validly
existing under the PRC laws, and has obtained or completed
all requisite approvals, permits, registrations or filings that are
material for carrying out its business operations as required by
the applicable PRC laws, regulations and rules;

- each of the VIE Operating Agreements, taken individually and
collectively, constitutes legal, valid and binding obligations
of the parties thereto and will be enforceable under
applicable PRC laws and regulations except that (a) the China
International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission
has no power to grant injunctive relief, nor will it be able to
order the winding up of Guangzhou Daide or Houhai Culture
pursuant to the current PRC laws; and (b) interim remedies
or enforcement order granted by overseas courts such as
the courts of Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands may not be
recognised or enforceable in the PRC;

- the VIE Operating Agreements do not, individually or
collectively, violate the mandatory provisions of the PRC
Contract Law, the General Principles of the PRC Civil Law and
other applicable PRC laws and regulations and are not deemed
as "‘concealing illegal intentions with a lawful form"" resulting in
the invalidity of the VIE Operating Agreements;

- none of the VIE Operating Agreements violates any provisions
of the existing articles of association of each of Guangzhou
Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and members of the Khorgas
Group; and

- the execution, effectiveness and enforceability of the VIE
Operating Agreements do not require any approvals from
any PRC governmental authority, except that (1) each of the
Equity Pledge Agreements (as defined below) is subject to
registration requirements with the relevant administration for
industry and commerce; (2) the exercising of the exclusive
options by Guangzhou Huohua according to the Exclusive
Option Agreements (as defined below) shall be subject to the
then effective PRC laws and regulations and relevant approving
procedures (if applicable); and (3) if the enforcement of the
VIE Operating Agreements is subject to the enforcement of
the ruling by the arbitrator and/or overseas courts outside
PRC, the claimant shall enforce the ruling via PRC courts with
jurisdiction.
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Summary of the major terms of the VIE
Operating Agreements

The following sets out the principal terms of the VIE Operating
Agreements, which were in place since 28 August 2018:

1.

The exclusive operation service agreement was entered into
between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide, Houhai
Culture and the PRC Equity Owners pursuant to which
Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture agreed to engage
Guangzhou Huohua as its exclusive consultant and service
provider. Guangzhou Huohua has the exclusive right to provide
Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture with consulting services
including but not limited to: (1) provision of advice on the
operations of the movie and drama production business; (2)
management and consultation related to the movie and drama
production business, and training of the staff; (3) provision of
advice on human resources; (4) assistance on market research;
(5) selection and introductions of clients; (6) formulation of
operation and sales strategies; (7) quality control of the movie
and drama production business; and (8) provision of advice on
financing.

Guangzhou Daide shall pay to Guangzhou Huohua a service
fee which is equal to 100% of its audited annual distributable
profits (after deduction of any loss of the previous year and
statutory provident fund (if applicable)) before 30 June of every
year. The services fee was determined by the parties to ensure
that Guangzhou Huohua will enjoy the economic benefits of
the VIE Operating Agreements.

The first exclusive option agreement was entered into
between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and the PRC
Equity Owners (the "Exclusive Option Agreement 1”), and
the second exclusive option agreement was entered into
between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and Houhai
Culture (the "Exclusive Option Agreement 2" and together
with the Exclusive Option Agreement 1, the “Exclusive Option
Agreements”).

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement 1, each of the
PRC Equity Owners irrevocably and unconditionally granted
an exclusive option to Guangzhou Huhoua which entitles
Guangzhou Huohua to elect to purchase at any time, when
permitted by the then applicable PRC laws, all or any part of
the equity interest in the Guangzhou Daide by itself or through
its designated person(s); and Guangzhou Daide irrevocably
and unconditionally granted an exclusive option to Guangzhou
Huohua which entitles Guangzhou Huohua to elect to purchase
at any time, when permitted by the then applicable PRC laws,
all or any part of the assets of Guangzhou Daide by itself or
through its designated person(s).
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Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement 2, Guangzhou
Daide irrevocably and unconditionally granted an exclusive
option to Guangzhou Huohua which entitles Guangzhou
Huohua to elect to purchase at any time, when permitted by
the then applicable PRC laws, all or part of the equity interest
in Houhai Culture by itself or through its designated person(s);
and Houhai Culture irrevocably and unconditionally granted
an exclusive option to Guangzhou Huohua which entitles
Guangzhou Huohua to elect to purchase at any time, when
permitted by the then applicable PRC laws, all or part of the
assets of Houhai Culture by itself or through its designated
person(s).

The transfer price of the relevant equity interests and assets
shall be the minimum purchase price permitted under PRC law,
and each of the PRC Equity Owners, Guangzhou Daide and the
Houhai Culture will undertake that she/he/it will return in full
the consideration received in relation to such transfer of equity
interests or assets to Guangzhou Huohua or its designated
person(s). The exercise price was determined by the parties to
ensure that WOFE will enjoy the economic benefits of the VIE
Operating Agreements.

The first entrustment agreement and powers of attorney was
entered into between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide
and the PRC Equity Owners (the “Entrustment Agreement
and Powers of Attorney 1”), and the second entrustment
agreement and powers of attorney was entered into between
Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture (the
“Entrustment Agreement and Powers of Attorney 2").

Pursuant to the Entrustment Agreement and Powers of
Attorney 1, each of the PRC Equity Owners irrevocably
appointed Guangzhou Huohua or its designated person(s)
(other than the PRC Equity Owners) as its attorney-in-fact to
act for all matters pertaining to the Guangzhou Daide and to
exercise all of their rights as shareholders of the Guangzhou
Daide, including but not limited to: (i) proposing to convene
and attend shareholders’ meetings of the Guangzhou Daide;
(i) exercising all the voting rights as shareholders of the
Guangzhou Daide; (iii) dealing with the rights as a shareholder
to the assets and profits of the Guangzhou Daide; (iv)
transferring or disposing of the shares of the Guangzhou
Daide; (v) receiving notice of convening and proceedings of
shareholders’ meetings of the Guangzhou Daide, sighing
minutes of shareholders’ meetings and submitting any
documents to relevant company registration authorities for
filing purpose; (vi) receiving the remaining assets of the
Guangzhou Daide upon its dissolution or liquidation; and (vii)
exercising all other shareholders’ rights under other applicable
PRC laws and regulations and the articles of association (as
amended from time to time) of the Guangzhou Daide.
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Pursuant to the Entrustment Agreement and Powers of
Attorney 2, Guangzhou Daide irrevocably appoints Guangzhou
Huohua or its designated person(s) (other than the PRC
Equity Owners) as its attorney-in-fact to act for all matters
pertaining to Houhai Culture and to exercise all of its rights
as the shareholder of Houhai Culture, including but not
limited to: (i) proposing to convene and attend shareholders’
meetings of Houhai Culture; (ii) exercising all the voting
rights as shareholders of Houhai Culture; (iii) dealing with the
rights as a shareholder to the assets and profits of Houhai
Culture; (iv) transferring or disposing of the shares of Houhai
Culture; (v) receiving notice of convening and proceedings of
shareholders’ meetings of the Houhai Culture, signing minutes
of shareholders’ meetings and submitting any documents to
relevant company registration authorities for filing purpose;
(vi) receiving the remaining assets of Houhai Culture upon
its dissolution or liquidation; and (vii) exercising all other
shareholders’ rights under other applicable PRC laws and
regulations and the articles of association (as amended from
time to time) of Houhai Culture.

The first equity pledge agreement was entered into between
Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and the PRC Equity
Owners (the "Equity Pledge Agreement 1”), and the
second equity pledge agreement was entered into between
Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture (the
"Equity Pledge Agreement 2", and together with the Equity
Pledge Agreement 1, the “Equity Pledge Agreements”).

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement 1, each of the PRC
Equity Owners agreed to pledge all of his/her respective
equity interests in Guangzhou Daide to Guangzhou Huohua to
secure performance of the obligations of himself/herself and
Guangzhou Daide under the VIE Operating Agreements and
pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement 2, Guangzhou Daide
agreed to pledge all of its respective equity interests in Houhai
Culture to Guangzhou Huohua to secure the performance
of obligations of itself and Houhai Culture under the VIE
Operating Agreements. Without the prior written consent
of Guangzhou Huohua, each of the PRC Equity Owners and
Guangzhou Daide has undertaken not to create or allow to
create any new pledge or encumbrance over their respective
interests in Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture.
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The loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) was entered
into between Guangzhou Huohua and Guangzhou Daide.
Pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement, Guangzhou
Huohua shall provide a non-interest bearing loan facility in
the maximum principal amount of RMB450,000,000 (subject
to any downward adjustment as contemplated by the profit
guarantee agreement) to Guangzhou Daide for the purpose of
the acquisition of the entire equity interest of Houhai Culture.
The loan will be provided to Guangzhou Daide by installment
corresponding to Guangzhou Daide’s payment schedule under
the equity transfer agreement. The loan will be financed by
way of shareholder’s loan to be made available to Guangzhou
Huohua, with an annual interest rate of 7% and a term of
three years. The loan will be for a term of 20 years from the
respective drawdown date of each installment of the loan.
Guangzhou Daide shall repay the loan in full if Guangzhou
Huohua gives prior notice to Guangzhou Daide demanding for
repayment. Save as the demand notice given by Guangzhou
Huohua, Guangzhou Daide shall have no right of early
repayment.

The Spouse’s Undertaking

The spouse of Ms. Wang executed a spouse confirmation,
pursuant to which he undertook and agreed to, among
others, (i) acknowledge that all the equity interests held by
Ms. Wang in Guangzhou Daide belongs to herself and do not
form part of the matrimonial property, and any disposal of the
equity interest held by Ms. Wang pursuant to the relevant
VIE Operating Agreements does not require the consent
of him; and (ii) any execution and amendment of any of the
VIE Operating Agreements does not require the signing,
confirmation and consent of him. The other PRC VIE Owner,
Mr. Tang does not have a spouse.
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Risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements and actions taken by the
Company to mitigate the risks

The following are the risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Further details of the risks were set out in the
circular of the Company dated 26 July 2018.

- There is no assurance that the VIE Operating Agreements
could comply with future changes in the regulatory
requirements in the PRC and the PRC government may
determine that the VIE Operating Agreements do not comply
with applicable regulations;

- The VIE Operating Agreements may not be as effective
in providing operational control as direct ownership and
Guangzhou Daide or its shareholders may fail to perform its
obligations under the VIE Operating Agreements;

- The Group may lose control over Houhai Culture and may
not enjoy the full economic benefits of Houhai Culture if
Houhai Culture declares bankruptcy or becomes subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding;

- The VIE Operating Agreements may be subject to scrutiny
by the PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be
imposed. A finding that the Group's owe additional taxes could
substantially reduce the Group’s net income;

- The shareholder(s) of Guangzhou Daide may have conflicts of
interest with the Group, which may materially and adversely
affect the Group's business and financial conditions;

- Certain terms of the VIE Operating Agreements may not be
enforceable under PRC law and enforcement of certain of the
Group’s rights under the VIE Operating Agreements is subject
to regulatory approval;

- A substantial amount of costs and time may be involved in
transferring the ownership of Guangzhou Daide and Houhai
Culture to the Group under the Exclusive Option Agreements;
and

- The Group does not have any insurance which covers the risks

relating to the VIE Operating Agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder.
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The Group adopted by the following measures to mitigate against
any potential risk.

- On 19 January 2015, the MOFCOM circulated Foreign
Investment Law (“FIL") of the PRC (Draft for Comment) { ({f 2
ARHEFEIINAIE EE(BREKERT))) and the Explanation
on the draft PRC Foreign Investment Law ({ B8 7 (1 E A
RAMBEINEEEEZ(BERERKERTR) BIEHAD) (collectively
the ""Draft Law'’), which proposed changes to the PRC
foreign investment legal regime and the treatment of the VIE
structures, including contractual arrangement such as the VIE
Operating Agreements. The Draft Law, if finally adopted, may
have a material impact on the PRC foreign investment legal
regime. As such, as advised by the PRC legal advisers, the
Board will closely monitor the development of the Draft Law
with the help of the Company’s in house counsel in the PRC
and if there is any development, they will discuss with the
Company's PRC legal advisers in order to assess any possible
impact arising from the change of the Draft Law or the FIL on
the VIE Operating Agreements and the business operation of
the Group. In case there would be material and adverse effect
on the Group or the business of Houhai Culture arising from
the Draft Law or the FIL, the Company will pursuant to Part
XIVA of the SFO, timely announce (i) any updates or material
changes to the Draft Law; (ii) in the event that the FIL has
been promulgated, a clear description and analysis of the law,
specific measures taken by the Company to be in compliance
with the FIL with the support of a PRC legal opinion; and (iii)
any material impact of the FIL on the Company’s operations
and financial position;

- as part of the internal control measures, major issues arising
from the implementation of the VIE Operating Agreements
with Guangzhou Daide, the PRC Equity Owners and Houhai
Culture will be regularly reviewed, at least on an annual
basis, by the Board. The Board will determine, as part of its
periodic review process, whether legal advisers and/or other
professionals will be engaged to assist the Group to deal with
specific issues arising from the VIE Operating Agreements;

- if the payment of the service fees from Guangzhou Daide to
Guangzhou Huohua is delayed, the chief financial officer must
meet with the PRC Equity Owners to investigate, and should
report any suspicious matters to the Board;
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- matters relating to compliance and regulatory enquiries from
government authorities (if any) will be discussed at regular
meetings by the Board no less frequently than on a quarterly
basis;

- the relevant business units and operation divisions of the
Group will report regularly, which will be no less frequently
than on a monthly basis, to the senior management of the
Company in relation to compliance and performance conditions
under the VIE Operating Agreements and other related
matters;

- the chief financial officer of the Company shall conduct regular
site visits to Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture and conduct
personnel interviews quarterly and submit reports to the
Board;

- the chief financial officer of the Company shall collect monthly
management accounts, bank statements and cash balances
and major operational data of Guangzhou Daide and Houhai
Culture for review. Upon discovery of any suspicious matters,
the chief financial officer must report to the Board;

- any material contracts entered into by Guangzhou Daide and
Houhai Culture which is outside their respective ordinary
course of business must be approved by the Company;

- Guangzhou Daide and the PRC Equity Owners have undertaken
that they will not carry on, own or acquire any business which
is in competition with or is likely to be in competition with the
business carried on by Houhai Culture without the prior written
consent of Guangzhou Huohua; and

- the Group will terminate the VIE Operating Agreements as
soon as the law allows the business to be operated without
them.

Material changes to and the unwinding of the
Contractual Arrangements

There has not been any material change in the Contractual
Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were
adopted for the year ended 30 June 2019.

Pursuant to the relevant provisions of the VIE Operating
Agreements, Guangzhou Huohua has the right to unwind the VIE
Operating Agreements as soon as the relevant PRC laws allow
Guangzhou Huohua to register itself as the shareholder of Houhai
Culture. There has not been any unwinding of any Contractual
Arrangements, nor has there been any failure to unwind any
Contractual Arrangements when the restrictions that led to the
adoption of the Contractual Arrangements are removed.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company maintained the
prescribed of public float as required under the Listing Rules.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group entered
into the following significant transaction:

1.

After the reporting period, Guangzhou Daide Management
Consultancy Company Limited (“Guangzhou Daide”) entered
into an equity transfer agreement with a group of third party
sellers (the “Sellers”) and B H ( £)8) XL EH B R A A
(Wenlan (Shanghai) Culture Communication Co., Ltd.*) (the
“Target Company”). Under the agreement, Guangzhou Daide
conditionally agreed to acquire, and Chen Jie (the “Seller
One") and £/ NIEXLEEBR AT (Shanghai Aibo Culture
Communication Co., Ltd.*) (the “Seller Three”) conditionally
agreed to sell, the equity interest collectively hold by Seller
One and Seller Three, representing 60% equity interest
in the Target Company, at an aggregate consideration of
RMB96,000,000 and = ¥ # (the “Seller Two”) and £ /&
EWEEEREHS L (BRER) (Shanghai Huizhe Enterprites
Management Center Co., Ltd.*) (the “Seller Four”) agreed to
grant the call option to Guangzhou Daide for purchasing the
remaining 40% equity interest in the Target Company.

On the same day, Guangzhou Daide, the Sellers and the
Target Company also entered into a profit guarantee
agreement, pursuant to which and subject to the completion
of the acquisition, the other two of the Sellers undertake to
Guangzhou Daide that the aggregated profit for the profit
guarantee period shall be not less than RMB70,000,000.

Details of the acquisition are set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 10 September 2019.

Up to the date of this report, the transaction has not yet
completed.
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2. On 16 September 2019, the Company has entered into new
placing agreement with the placing agent (the “Agent”)
pursuant to which the Agent conditionally agreed to procure,
on a best effort basis, places who are independent third parties
to the Group to subscribe in cash for the bonds (the “Bonds”)
in an aggregate amount of up to HK$150,000,000 with a
maturity date of three years from the issue date. Based on the
terms of the placing agreement, the Bonds are matured on the
third anniversary of the date of the issue of the Bonds or any
such other dates as mutually agreed in writing and shortened
or extended by the Company and the Agent.

The Bonds will be issued in tranches and the Bonds are
unsecured, unsubordinated and carried at fixed coupon rate
of 6.5% per annum which are payable semi-annually from the
date of issue of the Bonds.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2019. For
details of the composition and the functions of the Audit Committee,
please refer to pages 63 to 64 of the Corporate Governance Report
contained in this annual report.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire, and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Zhang Liang, Johnson
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 September 2019
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The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance and following the principles as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the
"CG Code").

During the year ended 30 June 2019, save as disclosed in the
paragraphs headed “Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer”
(CG Code Provision A.2.1) below, the Company complied with and
did not deviate from the code provisions as set out in the CG Code.
The Board regularly monitors and reviews the Group’s progress in
respect of corporate governance practices to ensure compliance.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules.

Having made all reasonable enquires, all the Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by Directors adopted by the Company during the year ended 30 June
2019.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of and
promoting the success of the Company. This is achieved by
setting up corporate and strategic objectives and policies, and the
monitoring and evaluations of operating activities and financial
performance of the Company.

All the Directors carry out their duties in good faith and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, taking decisions objectively
and acting in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders at
all times.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board of the Company comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (Chairman)

Ms. Zhao Wenzhu (President) (appointed on 26 November 2018)
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick

Mr. Wong Pak Ming (resigned on 1 April 2019)
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Bo
Mr. Xiang Feng
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson

An updated list of Directors identifying their roles and functions and
whether they are independent non-executive Directors has been
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
on 1 April 2019.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in “Profile of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 25 to 30 of this annual
report. The composition of the Board is well balanced. Each of
the Directors has relevant expertise and extensive corporate and
strategic planning experiences that can contribute to the business of
the Group.

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Company had complied
with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors representing more than one-third of the Board and at
least one of them has appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. All the
independent non-executive Directors have met the guidelines for
the assessment of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Board has received an annual confirmation
of independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Company considers all the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 25 to 30 of this annual report, there
is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship(s)) among members of the Board and
the senior management of the Group.

Formal service contracts or letters of appointment have been issued
to the executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors respectively setting out the key terms and conditions of
their respective appointments.

The insurance cover in respect of any legal action against the
Directors and senior officers arising out of corporate activities is
covered by the Directors and Officers Liability Insurance Policy of
the Company.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Company has deviated from code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code during the period from 1 July 2018 to 16 September 2018.
Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ") should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the Chairman and CEO should be clearly
established and set out in writing.

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson is the Chairman of the Board and is
responsible for the overall strategic planning and policy-making
of the Group while the daily operation and management of the
Company have been monitored by the executive Directors as well as
the senior management of the Group.

On 17 September 2018, the Company appointed Ms. Zhao Wenzhu
as the President of the Company, serving the function of CEO. From
then on, the roles of the Chairman and CEO are separated.

The Company has no written terms on the general division of
responsibilities between the Chairman and the President. The Board
considers that the responsibilities of the Chairman and the President
are clear and distinctive and hence written terms thereof are not
necessary.
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RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION OF
FUNCTIONS

The Company has formalised and adopted written terms on the
division of functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to
the management of the Group. The Board reserves for its decision
on all major matters of the Company, including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, risk
management and internal control systems, material transactions
(in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant financial
and operational matters. Responsibilities relating to implementing
decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily
operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) and senior management
of the Group, with a view to ensuring compliance with the Board
procedures and all applicable laws and regulations. Any Director
may request independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable
request being made to the Board. The day-to-day management,
administration, and operations of the Company are delegated to
the executive Directors and senior management of the Group.
The Board has delegated a schedule of responsibilities to these
officers for the implementation of the Board decisions. The Board
periodically reviews the delegated functions and work tasks. Prior to
entering into any significant transactions, the aforesaid officers have
to obtain the Board's approval.

No corporate governance committee has been established by the
Company and the Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties, which included:

(1) developing and reviewing the policies and practices on
corporate governance of the Group;

(2)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Group;

(3) to review and monitor the Group's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(4) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and

employees; and

(5) to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson, Ms. Zhao Wenzhu and Mr. Lee Hin
Kwong, Patrick, being all the existing executive Directors, had each
entered into with the Company a service contract for an initial fixed
term of one year, three years and three years commencing from
13 December 2017, 26 November 2018 and 1 December 2017
respectively renewable automatically until (i) terminated by not less
than respectively one month’s, two months’ and one month’s notice
in writing served by either party on the other expiring at the end of
the initial term or any time thereafter or (ii) not being re-elected at
an annual general meeting of the Company at which he retires and
offers for re-election.

Mr. Wong Pak Ming had entered into with the Company a service
contract as an executive Director of the Company for an initial term
of three years commencing from 31 October 2012 and renewable
automatically and until (i) terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other expiring at the
end of the initial term or any time thereafter or (ii) not being re-
elected at an annual general meeting of the Company at which he
retires and offers for re-election. The aforesaid service contract had
ceased upon Mr. Wong's resignation as an executive Director of the
Company on 1 April 2019.

Each of Mr. Wang Bo, Mr. Xiang Feng and Mr. Chang Eric Jackson,
being all the independent non-executive directors during the year,
had respectively renewed the letter of appointment with the
Company on 13 December 2018. Each letter of appointment is for a
term of one year from the date of the letter of appointment.

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from
office by rotation and shall be eligible for re-election. Every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick and Mr. Wang Bo will retire by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting, and being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting.

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Company’s Articles of Association,
any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
Accordingly, Ms. Zhao Wenzhu who was appointed by the Board
during the year will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, offer herself for re-election at the annual general
meeting.
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BOARD MEETING, GENERAL MEETING AND
PROCEDURES

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Board convened a total of
five board meetings and one general meeting have been held. The
following is the Directors’ attendance records of meetings held by
the Board:

EXZ228  RRAERER

BE2019F6A30BILFE - EFg6H#F
MAXREZEREN—RBERAE - U TR
EXHREFTEMBITERNLFLCE -

Number of Number of
attendances/ attendances/
number of number of
board general
meetings meetings
HERE,
Exyg HERE,
BREE BRAEHAE
Executive Directors HITESE
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson RESAE 5/5 1/1
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick ZENEE 5/5 1/1
Mr. Wong Pak Ming L s
(resigned on 1 April 2019) (R2019F4 A1 B BHE) 1/3 0/
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu M 22
(appointed on 26 November 2018) (7A2018%F 11 A26 B EZ L) 3/3 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUHITES
Mr. Wang Bo FREE 5/5 11
Mr. Xiang Feng ) I 55 A 5/5 1/1
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson SRR ST A& 5/5 1/1

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code stipulates that the independent
non-executive Directors should attend general meetings and
develop a balanced understanding of the views of the Shareholders.
Mr. Wong Pak Ming, a then executive Director of the Company was
unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on
23 November 2018 as he had other business engagements.

Board members were provided with complete, adequate and timely
information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly.
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Draft agenda of each Board meeting is sent to all Directors in
advance. Notice of at least seven days is given for a regular Board
meeting. For other Board and committees meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given. Board papers together with all appropriate,
complete and reliable information are dispatched to all Directors at
least three days before each regular Board meeting to ensure that
the Directors have sufficient time to review the related documents
and be adequately prepared for the meeting.

The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes of all Board
meetings and committees meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to all Directors for comments within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final versions are open for Directors’
inspection. The Company’s Articles of Association contains
provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions
in which such Directors or any of their associates have a material
interest.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors with names as listed out in the section headed “Board
Composition” in this annual report have been given relevant
guideline materials regarding the duties and responsibilities of
being a Director, the relevant laws and regulations applicable to
the Directors, duty of disclosure of interest and business of the
Group and such induction materials will also be provided to newly
appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors. All
Directors have been updated on the latest developments regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. Continuing briefings and professional
development to Directors will be arranged whenever necessary.
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During the year ended 30 June 2019, all Directors were provided
with monthly updates on the Group's business, operations, and
financial matters to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.
During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Directors also participated
in other training activities such as attending seminars and reading
materials relevant to the Company’s businesses or to their duties
and responsibilities as directors of a listed company. A summary of
the individual training record of each Director received for the year
ended 30 June 2019 is as follows:

EHZE2019F6A30H L FE  2EE=HE
BEUALEEXY  2EMVHEEMNA
w® A ERERITERSE - #122019F6A°
0RLFE  EFNSEEMBINEE -
HERTERHEEEAN AR ER LB EE
BEMRAREENBEABENE - §F
EREE2019F6 A30R IEFEEZ @RI
Az s EZaT

Directors Type of Training
5= g
Executive Directors HITESE

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson RELRAE A, B
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu (appointed on 26 November 2018) #8374+ (722018411 A26 HEE(E) B
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick TENREE A B
Mr. Wong Pak Ming (resigned on 1 April 2019) =AML A (FA2019F4 81 HEHT) A B
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHTESE

Mr. Wang Bo TR E A B
Mr. Xiang Feng [l 5 A A B
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson SRR S A A, B

Note:
Types of Training

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

All Directors had provided the Company Secretary with their training
records for the year ended 30 June 2019.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, and the
Nomination Committee, with written terms of reference which are
available for viewing on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange to assist them in the efficient implementation of their
functions. Specific responsibilities have been delegated to the above
committees.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board established the Audit Committee on 5 October 2012 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23 of
the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are mainly to communicate with external auditor; to
review the remuneration, terms of engagement, independence and
objectivity of the external auditor; to review the accounting policy,
financial position and financial reporting procedures of the Company;
and to review and assess the financial reporting, risk management
and internal control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit
function of the Company and arrangements to enable employees
of the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company
and making recommendations thereof.

The Audit Committee has three members comprising three
independent non-executive Directors, currently they are Mr. Chang
Eric Jackson (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Wang Bo
and Mr. Xiang Feng. During the year ended 30 June 2019, the
Audit Committee had reviewed the annual results and report of
the Company in respect of the year ended 30 June 2018 and the
interim results and report of the Company for the six months
ended 31 December 2018 and re-appointment of auditor. The
Audit Committee had been provided with the Group’s consolidated
financial statements, risk management report, internal control
report and other necessary information to consider, review and
access significant issues and matters arising from these works
conducted. Subsequent to 30 June 2019 and up to the date of this
report, all members of the Audit Committee conducted a meeting
to review the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 30 June 2019. The Audit
Committee had considered and reviewed, with management and
the external auditor of the Company, in detail of the identification
and approach with respect to the key audit matters that were most
significant in the audit procedures included in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 105 to 111 of this annual report. The
Group's final results and the annual report for the year ended 30
June 2019 had been reviewed by the Audit Committee before
submission to the Board for approval. Members of the Audit
Committee are of the opinion that the preparation of such final
results and annual report complied with the applicable accounting
standards, the Listing Rules, and that adequate disclosure have been
made. The Audit Committee also recommended to the Board of
Directors the re-election of Deloitte Touche Tomatsu as the external
auditor of the Company in the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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During the year ended 30 June 2019, two meetings of the Audit B ZE2019F6A30RIFE r ExZEgH
Committee have been held and the attendance of each member of TMREH MEBERZECSKELRECE
the Audit Committee is contained in the following table: EEREHN K
Number of
attendances/
number of
meetings
HERE,
S28E
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson SRR E(FRZEEEE)
(Chairman of the Audit Committee) 2/2
Mr. Wang Bo FREAE 2/2
Mr. Xiang Feng [ 5 A4 2/2

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 5 October
2012 with written terms of reference (updated on 13 December
2017) in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are mainly to review of the structure, size,
and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least annually and to
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become the Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships of the Company and to
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
In reviewing and recommending the appointment of new Directors,
the Nomination Committee would seek to identify the competencies
required to enable the Board to fulfill its responsibilities. The resume
or document of the nominee or candidate will be given to the
Nomination Committee for consideration.
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The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) on September 2013 and revised on December
2018 setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to skills, knowledge, industry
and regional experience, cultural and educational background,
gender, age and professional qualification. The ultimate decision will
be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee shall discuss and
where necessary, agree on the measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board and make recommendations to the Board.
The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as applicable)
such diversity perspectives and/or measurable objectives that are
appropriate to the Company’s business and Board succession
planning, as applicable.

The Company has also adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Director Nomination Policy”) on December 2018 setting out the
procedures and criteria to be used by the Company in relation to
the selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors to
ensure that the Board maintains an appropriate mix and balance of
skills, knowledge, experience, and diversity of perspectives to the
requirements of the Company's business.

The Nomination Committee shall make reference to this Director
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy to nominate
suitably qualified candidates to the Board for it to consider and
make recommendations to shareholders for election as Directors at
general meetings or appoint as Directors to fill casual vacancies or as
an addition to the Board.
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The Nomination Committee has three members comprising one
executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick, Mr. Wang Bo (Chairman of
the Nomination Committee) and Mr. Xiang Feng. During the year
ended 30 June 2019, two meetings of the Nomination Committee
have been held to review the structure, size and composition of
the Board, assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors and nominate a new Director. The attendance of each
member of the Nomination Committee is contained in the following
table:

REZEgH=-RKEHEK  BREE—F
PWTESKRMEBBULIIENTESETE LT
EIRAEE(REZESER) RAEL
4o BE2019F6A30HIEFE  2RE 8
GRITMAEH:  UWRFTESSEE - AH
NAAPK - SR IEITE R B M IR
BHEE - REZECXKELFSREE
BRTE:

Number of
attendance/
number of
meetings
HERE
SR¥A

Mr. Wang Bo (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick
Mr. Xiang Feng

TRELE(FEEZEEL/E) 2/2
[A) I 5% 4=

2/2
2/2

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 5
October 2012 with written terms of reference (updated on 13
December 2017) in compliance with the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Remuneration Committee are mainly to make
recommendations to the Board of Directors on the Company’s
policy structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establish of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing a remuneration policy, review the terms
of the remuneration package of each Director and member of senior
management of the Group and making recommendations to the
Board regarding any adjustment thereof; and to review and evaluate
the performance of individual Directors. No Director shall participate
in any discussion about his or her own remuneration.
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The Remuneration Committee has three members comprising one
executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick, Mr. Wang Bo (Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee), and Mr. Xiang Feng. The remuneration
of the Directors is determined with reference to their respective
experience, responsibilities with the Group and general market
conditions. During the year ended 30 June 2019, two meetings
of the Remuneration Committee have been held to review the
remuneration package of the Directors and senior management
of the Group and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of a new Director. The attendance of each member of
the Remuneration Committee is contained in the following table:

FMNEZEgH=-BKEEK  RERE—F
PWTESKRMEBBULIIENTESETE LT
£ IREE(FHZEESER) RAIEL
EoEBERZHFMBERSSENER BA
SENBEAREBEMRERT - 822019
FOASRALEFE  FTHWEEGRITMAZ
Z - LWEHESRASEN S REEE 5
HERHTEEE 2 HemMESQREE
%o FMEZEESKERFEERLHEHNT
xR

Number of
attendance/
number of
meetings
HERE,
BREE

Mr. Wang Bo (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) T 54 (¥
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick TENEE
Mr. Xiang Feng Ml 5t A

TNE R & FE) 2/2
2/2
2/2

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of senior management of the Group are
disclosed in the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 25 to 30 of this annual report.

The remuneration paid/payable to senior management of the Group
for the year ended 30 June 2019 fell within the following bands:

BREEE W
AEEZEREREREHBERERNKER
#25%30E [EERBREREME] 5 -

EHZE2019F6 B30 ILEED N A AL
BEREREZHMN TATER :

Number of

individuals

A

Less than HK$1,000,000 KA #1,000,0007T 6
Total 45 6
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group's
consolidated financial statements for each financial year and to
ensure that the consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The statement by the auditor of the Company about
their responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements
is set out in the "Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 105
to 111 of this annual report. The Board also ensures the timely
publication of the financial statements. The Directors, having
made appropriate enquiries, confirm that they are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the auditors of the Group for the
year ended 30 June 2019 is set out as follows:

ESHGRSUBHRRNERE

EZeNTHAREREASESVREE
A M B RE  WHEREAMBERRIR
BRERPIMER G ERRE - ARB]H%
BB AR A M RR B LR ERPAHNAK
FREIBGENNEA[BUZBMHRE ] - EF
IR K T BB WK - ERLIELE
EEARER  RELBMNBEMEHALE
SARRFERENENFEEARBNST
HRBEROEATHABRRE -

BT <

B E£2019F6 H30H ILFE
SEZEEMMEHEINMT

BN RAAE

Paid/payable

B ENEHE

HK$'000

BT T

Statutory audit services VA EAZER 75 1,850
Non-statutory audit services L TEZEARTE

Tax compliance, due diligence REeHR  ZHAE
and other consulting services N E A5 R AR 7S 1,210
Total Bt 3,060
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has developed the Group’s internal control, risk
assessment and management systems and has overall responsibility
for reviewing and maintaining an adequate and effective risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the interests
of the Shareholders and the assets of the Group. It evaluates
the effectiveness of the systems at least annually to ensure the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions. The review covers all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management.

Risk management and internal control systems

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage and mitigate risks, rather than eliminate risks,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. The Group has employed a bottom-up
approach for identification, assessment, and mitigation of risk at all
business unit levels and across functional areas.

Main features of risk management and internal
control systems

The key elements of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems include the establishment of a risk register to
keep track of and document identified risks, the assessment, and
evaluation of risks, the development and continuous updating of
responsive procedures, and the ongoing testing of internal control
procedures to ensure their effectiveness.

Annually, the Group identifies and assesses the key inherent risks
that affect the achievements of its objectives. A risk matrix is
adopted to determine risk rating into three categories: low, medium
and high, after evaluation of the risk by the likelihood and the impact
of the risk event. The risk ratings reflect the level of management
attention and risk treatment effort required.
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Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

During the process of risk assessment, each of the risk owners of
departments is required to capture and identify the key inherent
risks that affect the achievement of its objectives. Each inherent
risk is evaluated according to the risk matrix. After taking into
consideration the risk response, such as control measures in
place to mitigate the risk, the residual risk of each inherent risk
is evaluated again. The risk register with the risk responses and
residual risks is presented to the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee evaluates the effectiveness of the systems and reports
to the Board. The highest category of residual risks is subject to the
Board's oversight.

Process used to review the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems
and to resolve material internal control defects

The management is responsible for the design, implementation, and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems. In
view of the Group’s business and scale of operations, and in order
to adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting periodic
reviews of the Group’s internal controls, an independent consulting
firm (the “Internal Control Auditor”) has been engaged to work with
the Board, through the Audit Committee, to execute the internal
audit function. The Internal Control Auditor has conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 30 June 2019 according to the
scope of review determined, agreed and approved by the Audit
Committee and in accordance with the requirements under code
provision C.2 of the CG Code.

The Internal Control Auditor reported to the Audit Committee and
the Audit Committee is satisfied that there had been no material
deficiency identified in the areas of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems being reviewed, where some minor
areas need to be improved have been identified and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Group would take further steps to improve
by taken implement of the recommendations suggested by the
Internal Control Auditor. Accordingly, the Board considered the risk
management and internal control systems to be effective and have
been implemented with adequate resources during the year ended
30 June 2019.
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Procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information

The Company is aware of its obligations in disclosure of inside
information under the Listing Rules and Part XIVA of the SFO. The
Board has already established and implemented a policy on the
procedures, guidelines and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information. The policy stipulated the duty
and responsibility of inside information announcement, restriction on
sharing non-public information, handling of rumours, unintentional
selective disclosure, exemption and wavier to the disclosure of
inside information, and also compliance and reporting procedures.
Every senior management of the Company must take all reasonable
measures to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach
of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group from time to
time. They must promptly bring any possible leakage or divulgence
of inside information to the attention of the Company Secretary, who
will notify the Board accordingly for taking the appropriate action
promptly. For any material violation of this policy, the Board will
decide, or designate appropriate persons to decide the course of
actions for rectifying the problem and avoiding recurrence.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year under review, Ms. Lau Yee Wa ("Ms. Lau") of Tricor
Services Limited, an external service provider, was the company
secretary of the Company. Her primary contact person at the
Company is Ms. Chan Sze Man, who is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Company. The biographical details of Ms. Lau are set out under
the section headed "“Profile of Directors and Senior Management”
on pages 25 to 30 of this annual report. Ms. Lau confirmed that
she has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year ended 30 June 2019 in accordance with the
requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 30 June 2019, there was no change in the
Company's constitutional documents.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Communications with Shareholders

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and the Shareholders and investors. These include
answering questions through the general meetings, the publication
of annual and interim reports, notices, announcements and circulars
and the Company’s website at www.transmit-ent.com.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An annual
general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at
the place as may be determined by the Board. Any general meeting
other than an annual general meeting shall be referred to as an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM").

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the Listing
Rules and the Company's Articles of Association as amended
from time to time, Shareholders may convene an EGM to consider
proposals in accordance with the following provisions:

1. One or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of
the Company having the right of voting at general meetings can
deposit a written request to convene an EGM at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong (the “Hong
Kong Head Office”), for the attention of the Board or the
Company Secretary.

2. The written request must state the name of the Shareholders
concerned, their respective shareholdings, the objects of the
meeting, including details of the business(es) and resolutions
proposed to be considered and approved at the meeting,
signed by the Shareholders concerned.
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The request will be verified with the Company's Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office and upon their
confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
Company Secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the Shareholders. On the contrary, if the
request has been verified as not in order, the Shareholders
concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, an
EGM will not be convened as requested.

If within 21 days of such deposit of the requisition, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The notice period to be given to the Shareholders in respect of
the EGM varies according to the nature of the proposal. Notice
of the EGM at which the passing of a special resolution is to be
considered, a notice of the EGM shall be arranged to be sent
to the Shareholders at least 21 clear days or 10 clear business
days (whichever is longer) before such EGM. Notice of all other
EGM shall be arranged to be sent to the Shareholders at least
14 clear days or 10 clear business days (whichever is longer)
before such EGM.

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law,
Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands or the Company’s Articles of Association.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene an EGM following the procedures set out
above in this section.

Shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders and other stakeholders can make any enquiry
in respect of the Company in writing either by email at
“info@transmit-ent.com” or deposited at the Hong Kong Head
Office for the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary. The
appropriate management member of the Company will respond to
the legitimate enquiry of the Shareholders, the Company's potential
investors or analysts.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”) is in
place setting out the principles and guidelines that the Company
intends to apply in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution
of its net profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.
The Board shall take into account factors including but not limited
to financial results, cash flow situations, future operations, and
earnings, any restriction on payment of dividends when considering
the declaration and payment of dividends:

- financial results;

- cash flow situation;

- business conditions and strategies;

- future operations and earnings;

- capital requirements and expenditure plans;

- interests of shareholders;

- taxation consideration;

- any restrictions on the payment of dividends; and

- any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The Dividend Policy shall be reviewed when necessary and can be
revised by the Board from time to time.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Transmit Entertainment Limited (the “Company”), together with its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), is pleased to present this Environmental,
Social and Governance Report 2019 (the “Report”) to provide an
overview of the Group's management of significant issues affecting
the operation, including environmental, social and governance
issues. This Report is prepared by the Group with the professional
assistance of APAC Compliance Consultancy and Internal Control
Services Limited.

Preparation basis and scope

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) —
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” and has
complied with the “comply or explain” provision in the Listing Rules.

This year, The Group has extended the scope of this report so that
it covers both its Hong Kong (“HK") and the People’'s Republic
of China (the "PRC") operations. This Report summarises the
performance of the Group in respect of corporate environmental and
social responsibility, covering its operations which are considered as
material by the Group — (i) film and TV series production, distribution
and licensing of film rights; (ii) film exhibition; (iii) others, including
post-production, advertising, marketing and publication businesses,
internet and pan entertainment businesses and other revenue in
HK and PRC. With the aim to optimise and improve the disclosure
requirements in the Report, the Group has taken initiative to
formulate policies, record relevant data, implement and monitor
measures. This Report shall be published in both Chinese and
English on the website of the Stock Exchange. Should there be any
discrepancy between the Chinese and the English versions, the
English version shall prevail.

Reporting period

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during the
reporting period from 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019.

Contact information

The Group welcomes your feedback on this Report for our
sustainability initiatives. Please give your suggestions or share your
views with the Group via the Group's social media platforms or
email at info@transmit-ent.com.
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INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in (i) film and TV series production,
distribution and licensing of film rights; (ii) film exhibition; (iii) others,
including post-production, advertising, marketing and publication
businesses, internet and pan entertainment businesses and other
revenue. The Group mainly produces Chinese films and TV series in
both Hong Kong and mainland China. It also operates five Hong Kong
based cinemas, one mainland China based cinema and one post-
production company.

In order to response to growing trends on the expectation of the
stakeholders on the corporate responsibility performance, the
Group is committed to integrating sustainable development into
business operations. We maintain our operation in a responsible
and value-optimizing manner and value creation for stakeholders
and community by integrating environmental and social factors
into management considerations. Sustainability strategy is based
on the compliance with the legal requirements applicable to us
and opinions from stakeholders. Sustainability is essential for
the Group’s growth in order to achieve business excellence and
enhance capabilities for long-term competitiveness. The Group
has established and implemented various policies to manage and
monitor the risks related to the environment, employment, operating
practices and community. Details of the management approaches
to sustainable development of different areas are illustrated in this
Report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group's business
depends on the support from its key stakeholders, who (a) have
invested or will invest in the Group; (b) have the ability to influence
the outcomes within the Group; and (c) are interested in or affected
by or have the potential to be affected by the impact of the Group's
activities, products, services and relationships. It allows the Group
to understand risks and opportunities. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship with
each of its key stakeholders.

Stakeholders are prioritised from time to time in view of the Group's
roles and duties, strategic plan and business initiatives. The Group
engages with its stakeholders to develop mutually beneficial
relationships and to seek their views on its business proposals and
initiatives as well as to promote sustainability in the marketplace,
workplace, community and environment.
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The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained
from the stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous interest
in the Group's business activities. The Group has identified key
stakeholders that are important to our business and established
various channels for communication. The following table provides an
overview of the Group's key stakeholders, and various platforms and
methods of communication are used to reach, listen and respond.

AEBRRAENEHEBAEUAEEXR LD
ZRBE - BARBERIMGENZESR
o AEREEFNHEBEMEBERZEE
MEABEE  TRIZEBRRE - TRIE
HEAKE 2N mEEEALRBRNES - %
BrEORNSESBTERTANHE -

Stakeholders Expectations Engagement channels

FlzsAEEE & ML ZHERE

Government e Compliance with the applicable laws e Annual reports, interim reports and
BUF and regulations announcements

o BTHERMARKEM

e Proper tax payment

o FEMH
Shareholders and e | ow risk
investors o KR
BRERKESE e Return on the investment

o REEM

e |nformation disclosure and
transparency

o BAKEEKERAE

e Protection of interests and fair
treatment of shareholders

o REMRFIER KA FEFS

Employees e Safeguard the rights and interests of
== employees

o RISEEEMNNER

e \Working environment

o T{EERIR

e (Career development opportunities

e BIXERME

e Health and safety

s REHEZE

Customers e Safe and high-quality products
TR s ZEKRBEEmM

e Stable relationship

o BERR

e |nformation transparency

o AHFERE

* |Integrity

. WEEE

e Business ethics

o FEER®

o Fayp - RHIEERAM
e Company website

. D@

e Annual general meetings and other
shareholder meetings

s BREBAFAGREMBRRAS

e Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

o FIR - PHHERLQM

e Company website

LIS F R

e Meetings with investors and analysts

o BEREELRSTENEHE

e Trainings, seminars and briefing
sessions

o Il EBERENE

e Newsletters

o NEBIER

e [ntranet and emails

s AHENLER

e Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

o FI| - FHRERQM

e Company website

o AT

e Email and customer service hotline

o BEHREFRGRER

e Regular meetings

s TEHiEH
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Stakeholders

Expectations

Engagement channels

FlzEEEEE BE SHERE

Suppliers and e Long-term partnership e Business meetings and phone calls
partners o RHIGI{ERR e XWEENERE

HEFREESH * Honest cooperation e Regular meetings

Financial institution

TEHAE

Media
e

Public and
communities

ARALTRIEE

e HWAE

e Fairness and openness

o RNFRHM

e |nformation resources sharing
o BHARK=E

e Risk reduction

o [RERER

e Compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations

o EBEFHEAERENER

e Disclosure of information

. ENHE

e |nformation transparency

o BMBHE

o Community involvement

° Zi ﬂ‘:‘ z /\
° Somal responsibilities
° El E{E

© %; = n'#z
e Reviews and assessments

o« BRI

e Consulting

* ¥

e Information disclosure

. AMEE

e Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

o FI - PHIRE LM

e Company website
LI/ i

e |nterviews

. W

e Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

o FI - PHIBERAM

Through general communication with stakeholders, the Group
understands the expectations and concerns from stakeholders.
The feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make more informed
decisions, and to better assess and manage the resulting impact.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG
reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are important
to the business of the Group. All the key ESG issues and key
performance indicators (KPls) are reported in the Report according
to recommendations of the ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 27 of
the Listing Rules) and the Global Reporting Initiative Guidelines. The
Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG aspects
through the following steps:
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Step 1: Identification — Industry Benchmarking

Relevant ESG areas were identified through the review of
relevant ESG reports of the local and international industry
peers.

The materiality of each ESG area was determined based on
the importance of each ESG area to the Group through internal
discussion of the management and the recommendation of
ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules).

Step 2: Prioritisation — Stakeholder Engagement

The Group discussed with key stakeholders on key ESG areas
identified above to ensure all the key aspects were covered.

Step 3: Validation — Determining Material Issues

Based on the discussion with key stakeholders and internal
discussion among the management, the Group’s management
ensured that all the key and material ESG areas, which were
important to the business development, were reported and in
compliance with ESG Reporting Guide.

As a result of this process carried out in 2019, those important ESG
areas to the Group were discussed in this Report.

A.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group is mainly involved in office operations and its
business activities do not have significant impact on the
environment or natural resources. In spite of this, we
believe that our enterprise has responsibility in promoting
and implementing the sustainable development of
environment. We are committed to continuously improving
our environmental sustainability by responsibly managing our
operation, reducing our carbon footprint and using resources
effectively.
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Accordingly, the Group establishes environmental principles
and policies to ensure the effective execution in various
measures. From film and TV series production to film
exhibition at the cinemas, the Group is committed to making
efforts towards sustainable business and reducing carbon
footprint while showing good stewardship in the community
that the Group serves. For instance, during film and TV
series production, a production manager is assigned for
each production in order to carefully manage, supervise and
execute sustainability practice and performance in every
aspect of the production, from reducing the use of plastic
water bottles to renting vehicles with higher fuel efficiency
and the use of rechargeable batteries. For film exhibition
operation, vegetarian options are available for cinemagoers,
as well as ensuring the cinema venue is accessible to meet
the needs of customers. The Group always endeavours
to operate in a manner that is economically, socially and
environmentally sustainable while balancing the interests
of our various stakeholders and fostering a positive impact
on the society. We also regularly update ourselves with the
latest development of the applicable laws and regulations on
environmental protection.

A1. EMISSIONS

The Group acknowledges its responsibility to the
environment and has ethical duties to reduce emissions.
Given the nature of our business, the impacts on the
environment and nature resources are not significant.
In spite of this, we are committed to minimizing our
environmental impacts by responsibly managing our
business operations, reducing our carbon footprint and
using resources effectively. In the meantime, we have
fully complied with all of the relevant environmental
laws and regulations where we operated such as the
Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the People’'s Republic of China (2015) in the PRC, the
Motor Vehicle Idling (Fixed Penalty) Ordinance (Cap.
611), and the Road Traffic Ordinance (Cap. 374) in Hong
Kong. Besides, no concluded case regarding emissions
was brought against us or our employees during the year
ended 30 June 2019.
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Air Pollutant Emissions

Air emission control is essential to mitigate
environmental impacts and to protect the health of
employees. As the Group is mainly involved in general
office activities, the amount of air pollutant emissions is
insignificant. Our air pollutant emissions are generated
from the mobile sources including passenger cars.
We take initiative to formulate plans in transportation
management for the reduction of air pollutant emissions
in our daily business operation. For example, encouraging
employees and clients to conduct video conference
meetings instead of transportation. The increase in air
pollutant emissions in 2019 was mainly attributable to
the increase in revenue generated from film and TV
series production and distribution, film exhibition, post-
production, advertising, marketing and publication,
as well as more frequent vehicle travelling during the
year ended 30 June 2019. The details of air pollutant
emissions during the reporting period were as follows:
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RS RBERYD
REHEBUEFIEREREFZER
RERERRZMEZ - N4
EERFENE—RPLETEL -
WERSEMBEREM T HM -
B ERSEEERYRE RE
REBE(BREHEZELRE) o KM
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AREBEER 2 ERSAEER
Y PInEEEEREFPEAR
GeERERXBLHE - 12019
FoERSRAEREMEE
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B REEEZTREERBEEER
BT BENMR - BEREE B
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BERGEIBIT -

Type of air pollutants Unit HK PRC 2019 Total 2018 Total
RIS R ER By BE HFE 2019545 2018F A&t
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kg 7.75 0.31 8.06 N/A'
AELP(INOX) N TEA
Sulphur oxides (SOx) kg 0.16 0.16 0.32 0.23
A t#¥(SOx) NI

Particulate matter (PM) kg 0.57 0.11 0.68 N/A
BIZ R T (PM) N TEA!

As stated in the Environmental, Social and Governance report of the
Company in 2018 (“2018 ESG report”), the Group did not record
relevant data but would develop better data collection platform in 2019
for the calculation of NOx and PM emissions.
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Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions
Greenhouse gas is considered as one of the major
contributors to the climate change. Besides, global
warming affects our daily life and poses a risk to
the Group’'s business. Hence, we are committed to
mitigating the effects of climate change and protecting
the health of our employees.

Regarding GHG emissions of the Group, scope 1 direct
emissions, scope 2 and scope 3 indirect emissions
mainly result from the combustion of fuels in mobile
sources, purchased electricity and business air travel
respectively for business operations. During the year
ended 30 June 2019, the Group fully complied with
all applicable environmental laws and regulations, and
was not subject to any fine, penalty, investigation or
prosecution for non-compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations relating to emissions.
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Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

Giving the majority of the GHG emissions of the Group
come from energy consumption, the Group tackles the
GHG emission by lowering the energy consumption
in our business operations. Policies and procedures
as mentioned in the section “Use of Resources” to
encourage energy saving have been incorporated
throughout the operations in order to reduce the carbon
footprint. The decrease in GHG scope 1 emission in
2019 was mainly attributable to the effective fuel saving
initiatives implemented by the Group during the year. On
the other hand, the increase in GHG scope 2 emission
in 2019 was mainly due to the increase in revenue
generated from film and TV series production and
distribution, film exhibition, post-production, advertising,
marketing and publication during the year. The GHG
scope 3 emission remained stable for the year. The
details of GHG emissions during the reporting period
were as follows:

BRERE(RERE D HEK
HRAEENEAEREERES
FRREERERE  AEBREER
BENERERENEYE=R
BE R RE - N[ ERERIH DR
MBI BN ENRE R RIEEE R E
REER BRI E BN - 82019
FoORERBEHEIBERERD
FEHARAEBRFAETAEX
RIET MR EHE HE © LD - 722019
F o ORERBEE2HREE N
FEARFARBEFZRERE
BIEREIT - B - R
1B EBE - MBHERDRER
EERNREEINAE - RERE
BESHMEFNRIFFIE - NIk
EHHA R EREBRGEBIT ¢

Type of GHG emissions? Unit HK PRC 2019 Total 2018 Total
BEREBHERER? B =8 HE 2019545 2018F &5t
Scope 1° tonnes of CO,e 29 6 35 40
# (=13 Wb E &
Scope 24 tonnes of CO,e 1,766 66 1,832 1,164
[ 21 WE SIS 2
Scope 3° tonnes of CO,e 17 2 19 19
#[F3° WE— S LIRE S
Total GHG emissions tonnes of CO,e 1,812 74 1,886 1,223
mEREEEEE WA LiRE &
GHG emission intensity tonnes of CO,e/m? 0.15 0.08 0.14 0.10

BERBHREE M—RLREE

F2K

s The calculation of the GHG emission is based on the “Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard” from GHG Protocol published by
World Resources Institute and World Business Council for Sustainable
Development.

& Scope 1: Direct emissions from sources that are owned or controlled
by the Group.
& Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased

electricity consumed by the Group.
2 Scope 3: Indirect emissions from the business travel by employees.
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes
Waste management is considered as one of the material
topics in environmental protection. The Group recognises
the importance of waste reduction. Waste management
measures have been introduced and implemented
to minimise the amount of waste generated and the
impact on the environment. With our business nature,
no hazardous waste was generated or discharged in our
office operation during the year.

Non-hazardous waste mainly consists of paper waste
which is generated from daily office operation. The
Group takes initiative to reduce waste by formulating
effective measures. Generally, we have engaged
qualified recycling companies to collect and handle the
waste in accordance to the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes in the PRC and
the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354) in Hong Kong.
The major source of our non-hazardous waste is paper
waste.

With the aim to reduce the amount of waste generated,
the Group endeavours to cultivate environmental
awareness among employees. In order to reduce the
paper consumption, we actively promote electronic
communication instead of paper use. We also encourage
our employees to consider environmental-friendly
printing such as double-sided printing and copying.
Moreover, we encourage employees to reuse single
sided non-confidential print out. We will seek other
possible measures to manage and reduce the waste
generated in operations in the future. The Group will
look into the development of waste management
system and recycling practice in business operations in
the coming future. The slight increase in the amount of
non-hazardous wastes generated in 2019 was mainly
attributable to the increase in revenue generated from
film and TV series production and distribution, film
exhibition, post-production, advertising, marketing and
publication during the year ended 30 June 2019.
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The details of non-hazardous wastes generated and
recycled by the Group during the reporting period were
as follows:
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AEERBERNEE RO
BEBREMABOT

Wastes Unit HK PRC 2019 Total 2018 Total

BEEY By &iE FE 2019F#5 2018F 45t

Non-hazardous wastes tonnes 1.12 0.09 1.21 1.00
generated

EELNBEIERY MR

Non-hazardous wastes tonnes/employee 0.005 0.003 0.005 N/AS
generated intensity

EEENEZEEYEE W GRS NiE e

Non-hazardous wastes tonnes 0.1 0.01 0.12 0.30
recycled

ERE EEREEY) 8

A2. USE OF RESOURCES

The Group considers environmental protection as an
essential component of a sustainable and responsible
business. We have an in-depth understanding of the
importance of safeguarding sustainable development
of the environment and this to attach importance to
efficient utilization of resources by introducing various
measures in daily business operations. We understand
that staff participation is the key to achieve such goals.
We have adopted energy and water efficiency initiatives
to motivate our employees to participate in resource
conservation activities.

Energy Consumption

With the aims of resource saving and implementation
of energy saving measures, we actively promote the
concept of energy saving and emission reduction into
the entire process of our business development and
operation and implements different energy saving
measures.

The waste data was not available in 2018 ESG Report.
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Regarding energy consumption, the use of electricity
accounts for the Group’s major energy consumption. In
view of the scarcity of energy, the Group has advocated
various energy conservation strategies to increase
energy efficiency and reduce energy consumption.
For example, all facilities for film exhibition operations
comply with the Building Energy Efficiency Ordinance
(Cap 610) implemented by the Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department to ensure key building services
meet the minimum energy efficiency standards of the
Building Energy Code. Besides, the temperature of air-
conditioners is maintained at an energy-efficient level at
around 25 degrees Celsius. A standby mode is set for
computers when they are not in use for a long period of
time. Besides, all lighting and power supply in the area
are switched off while leaving. In order to increase the
environmental awareness of employees, energy saving
reminder notices are posted near the switches and
sockets to encourage our employees to reduce electricity
usage. The increase in the total energy consumption in
2019 was mainly attributable to the increase in revenue
generated from film and TV series production and
distribution, film exhibition, post-production, advertising,
marketing and publication during the year. During the
reporting period, the details energy consumption were as
follows:
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Type of energy Unit HK PRC 2019 Total 2018 Total
BERER By 'aE RE 2019F#F 2018F 45t
Purchased electricity MWh 2,563 53 2,616 2,249
EEE BB R
Petrol MWh 97 19 116 89
o BE R
Steam MWh - 49 49 N/A?
A ER-335 TEA7
Towngas MWh = 4 4 -
BE BERE
Diesel MWh - - - 49
e BB
Total energy consumption MWh 2,660 125 2,785 2,387
BEEREREE B8 R
Energy consumption intensity MWh/m? 0.21 0.13 0.21 0.19
REIRHAEE B BBERE,

Ik

The steam data was not available in 2018 ESG Report.
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Water Consumption

Water is an important resource used by the Group during
operation. For water consumption in Hong Kong offices,
some water supplies are solely controlled and centrally
managed by the property management companies of the
building. Hence, it is not feasible for the Group to provide
water consumption data as there is no separate meter
for each individual office unit on water usage record.
However, we still actively seek ways to minimse water
consumption.

Although, the Group does not consume a significant
amount of water during business operations, we
endeavour to conserve water effectively in our
operations by implementing various water-saving
measures. For example, employees are encouraged
to turn off the water taps when they are not in use.
Besides, in case of leaking faucet or pipe, we will
promptly report to relevant authority in order to reduce
unnecessary water consumption. Moreover, the amount
of water consumption is recorded regularly for the
Group to monitor the water consumption level and
better formulate water-saving measures. The increase
in the amount of water consumption in 2019 was mainly
attributable to the increase in revenue generated from
film and TV series production and distribution, film
exhibition, post-production, advertising, marketing and
publication during the year. During the reporting period,
the details water consumption were as follows:
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Water consumption Unit HK PRC 2019 Total 2018 Total
KEFHEFE By 5B FE 2019545 2018F 45t
Water consumption m?3 2,048 1,393 3,441 N/A8
KERBFE SR e
Water consumption intensity m?s/m? 0.16 1.47 0.26 N/A8
KEREFEREE SRR

5K il
Packaging Material BEMR

Due to our business nature, some packaging material
made with recyclable paper was used at film exhibition
operation. The Group does not have manufacturing
facilities and does not consume a significant amount of
packaging materials.

As stated in the 2018 ESG report, the water consumption data was not
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available as water charge was included in the property management
fees in 2018.
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A3. THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL

RESOURCES

The Group understands that implementing environmental
protection can reduce operational risk and increase
business opportunities. Regarding the business
nature, we are not aware of any significant impact
of our business activities on the environment and
natural resources. Despite this, we endeavour to
consistently improve our environmental performance
by implementing aforementioned waste reduction
measures and resources saving initiatives. We will
continue to seek opportunities to further reduce emission
and resources consumption with the aim to reduce
the impacts on environment and natural resources to
minimal. We will review our environmental policy from
time to time and consider implementing further eco-
friendly measures and practices in order to enhance
environmental sustainability in future.

B. SOCIAL ASPECTS

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

B1. EMPLOYMENT

The Group believes employees are valuable assets and
the foundation for success and development of the
Group. We strive to maintain a safe and equal working
environment for its employees and promote employees’
health and well-being. Policies and regulations in the
Group’s staff handbook have been established for the
guidance and observation by the employees of the Group
and will be subject to the laws of the PRC and Hong
Kong as far as they may be applicable in conjunction
with the policies. Staff handbook provides information
and guidelines regarding employee’s standard working
hours, rest days, statutory holidays, termination of
employment, summary dismissal, exit interview, salary
payment, overtime work, various types of leaves,
medical coverage, mandatory provident fund, night shift
travel allowance and overtime work allowance.
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Equal opportunity

The Group places a high priority on achieving equality
of opportunity for all employees in relation to all
personnel matters including recruitment, training,
promotion, transfer, benefits and dismissal. The dignity
and individuality of each employee is respected, and
the privacy and confidentiality of employee records
is safeguarded. Employees’ performance is assessed
solely according to their individual ability to meet job
requirements.

Promotion and appraisal

The Group offers internal promotions to employees,
whenever possible, within the Group. Promotion to a
higher grade normally depends on the availability of
vacancy, individual performance and potential to take up
the new position.

The Group provides an open, challenging and
participative environment for all employees. We aim to
provide opportunities for the development of the skills
of employees to the fullest extent possible, consistent
with the needs of the Group. Job performance is
reviewed annually, and this serves as an opportunity
for the supervisor to evaluate employee’s performance
in an objective and open manner, to discuss concerns,
strength and suggestions for further improvement.
Employees’ remuneration and pay scale adjustment are
made reference to individual's performance and appraisal
results, industrial standard and market trend.
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Employee welfare

Employees can enjoy free enrolment to Cinema City's
membership along with complimentary movie tickets
and coupons. Movie premiere invitations are also given
to employees for the Group's own film productions.
The Group offers special arrangement to employees
to leave work early on important traditional days which
are not public holidays such as Mid-Autumn Festival,
Winter solstice, Christmas Eve and Chinese New Year's
Eve. The Group regularly organises internal events to
strengthen the sense of belonging within the Group
and boost the communication transparency among all
levels of employees, through Christmas party and annual
dinner, etc.

During the reporting period, the Group was in strict
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC and Hong Kong, including the Labour Law
of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57), the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485), the
Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480) and the Race
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602) in HK. During
the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with those applicable laws and
regulations.
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At the end of the reporting period, the total number of Hong Kong
and the mainland China employees of the Group was 260 (30 June
2018: 298 in Hong Kong). Below is the employee breakdown by

gender, age group, geographical region.

GENDER
]l

51%_

\""Male
B4

EMPLOYEE CATEGORY
B {R%ER!

0
5%
Senior Management
. EBEEEAS

" Middle Management
HEEEAS

—R

Contract/
Short Term

gL

RBMEBK - AEEREERPEAMANE
B4 A8 52604 (20186 A30H : 2984
EHBEE) - MR - TR Kb IR R 15 E
DHEEAMEMT o

AGE GROUP
Fr A Bl
0
b 2%
41%’255052‘“‘\ 51 or above

51EEs L

31-40
315k E405%

B0BmAUT

GEOGRAPHICAL REGION
IR &

Hong Kong
)
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The employee annual turnover rate by gender, age group,
geographical region during the reporting period was as

RBEHHE - BEFERAEEZ
TR - FEAE R K IE R E D

follows: wm

Unit Turnover rate (%)
Employment EE B KR (%)
By gender EMHRI &S
- Male -3k % 70
- Female - % 80
By age group R ER A B E D
- 30 or below — 30BRE AR % 81
- 31-40 - 312405% % 38
- 41-50 — 41 ZE505% % 57
- 51 or above - B0 £ % 100
By geographical region %3t 32 & i &
- PRC — % 11
- HK - B % 85
Overall g % 75

B2. HEALTH AND SAFETY

Employee health and safety is the Group's top priority.
The Group takes into consideration every precaution to
establish a healthy and safe working environment for its
employees. We strictly abide by the relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong, including the Law
of the PRC on work safety, the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Disease, and the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509)
in Hong Kong. During the year ended 30 June 2019, there
was no case of non-compliance in relation to health and
safety or work-related injury within the Group.
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The Group not only strictly implements relevant
laws and regulations, but also proactively formulates
internal policies and standards related to specific
business departments of the Group. For example, the
Group's film exhibition operation has obtained Places
of Public Entertainment License issued by Food and
Environmental Hygiene Department (“FEHD") to ensure
its business comply with relevant laws and regulations.
Besides, as stated in the staff handbook, health and
safety at work are the interest and responsibility of both
employees and the Group. Employees’ compensation
insurance is provided to cover any work-related injuries,
illnesses and occupational diseases. The Group is
committed to complying with all local occupational health
and safety legislations that are relevant to the Group.
First-aid kits are provided at all workplaces. Employees
must take reasonable care for the health and safety of
themselves and others, as well as participating in fire
safety training or fire drills provided by the Group or
property management offices. If any employee notices
any unsafe conditions or gets injured at work, he/she
should immediately report it to the supervisor.

During the year ended 30 June 2019, there were 3 (30
June 2018: 4) work injury cases and 239 (30 June 2018:
28.5) lost days due to minor injuries during film exhibition
and production operations. There was no work-related
fatality case (30 June 2018: nil) during the reporting
period. Employees were given paid sick leave for their
recovery. Overall, no employees had serious accident
during the reporting period.
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B3.

B4.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group believes the knowledge and skills of its
employees are vital to the sustainable development of
the Group. All training activities, executed through the
Human Resources & Administration Department of the
Group (“HRA"), should comply with the applicable local
laws and regulations and protect the Group's interest.
We maintain an open dialogue with our employees by
facilitating a transparent two-way communication and
providing on-the-job training to ensure they are well
equipped with skills, knowledge and competencies that
are needed to perform their job duties. Besides, we
also encourage employees to attend external courses
regarding operation skills required for upgraded software
and new equipment during office hours. Standard training
is arranged for directors and the company secretary
on an annual basis and a regular basis respectively, to
strengthen their continuous professional development as
well as to comply with requirements of the Listing Rules.
The Group will enhance the training system in order
to improve the personal development of employees in
future.

LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group respects the human rights of employees,
and is strongly against the employment of child labour
and forced. The Group is strictly in compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations, such as the Labour Law
in the PRC and the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57)
in Hong Kong. We pursue fair and equitable principle,
promote equal opportunity in recruiting and promotion for
employees and prohibit any kind of forced labour. We are
committed to supporting the effective abolition of child
labour and upholding the elimination of all forms of forced
labour.
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The HRA conducts checking on candidates and newly
joined employee’s identity cards, working visa, relevant
certificates and references to ensure compliance
with all the applicable laws and regulations relating to
labour standards. The Group respects the freedom of
employees. All works should be voluntarily performed
and must not involve forced labour. The Group
forbids abusing, corporal punishment, violence, spirit
oppression, sexual harassment (including improper
language, posture and body contact) as forms of penalty.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations related to recruitment of child labour or
forced labour practices.

OPERATING PRACTICES

B5. SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group strives to maintain long-term and good
relationships with suppliers, maintain competitive
advantages in the value chain, and provide stable
products and services to our customers. In order to
manage and mitigate the environmental and social risks
in the supply chain, we have adopted a procurement
policy and a stringent supplier selection procedure for
assigning purchasing responsibilities and ensuring a
consistent approach for selecting suppliers who will
provide the best terms, conditions and products to meet
our standards and requirements. We require that all
material aspects of procurement of goods, raw materials,
works and services be conducted to the highest ethical
standards and consistent with the following principles:

° Competitive tendering wherever possible and
the impartial selection of appropriately qualified
tenderers;

° Objective evaluation of tenders and selection of
contractors and suppliers;

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
B B REAEE

ANERBEHEE AL RFERE
BmEMNE - TERE  HEZ
EREBRETZE  UBRFRE
ST YIS TREAE B R E MR
BRZER - AEEEERENAE
B A TEHABRET - T
BHRBHET - KEBEIF
B RE 2 BeEa- 4
RE(BETRENES 22X
S REME) ERBEITER -

R¥pEHME - AEEWARERE
MEREEREBAEET &G
ETHRBERIERNBEN -

ZE 1)

B5. EHEEE

AEEHNEHERFRFEMR
HEVRRER  WHRREERNHT
B URAREPREREMNE
o R fRTE o A E IR R B A R g
TEOREREERAR - HASK
MR BR MBS e B PR
R ADERHRBEME - LR
ER-—ZIATESRHTAR
PR R AR TE M SRAEIRAR - IR 1F
REmMOHER - HPIZRKRE
B BRE - TRERREAT
BERTEAERRSEREE
NMFFE AT AR :

o  REARKARSH BT
RATEHERERERIZE
=

o HABHMMERNRIEE
TRENEREUE

BIRREBR AT 2018/19 F4

>

95



96

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
B B REAEE

B6.

° Adoption of appropriate forms of contract according
to needs; and

° Adoption of effective monitoring systems and
management controls to ensure the proper
fulfilment of contractual obligation, and to detect
and prevent bribery, fraud or other malpractices
throughout all stages of the procurement process.

During the year, the Group had 126 and 5 suppliers in HK
and the PRC respectively.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group regards product quality as a key competitive
advantage of its business and makes every effort
to improve the product quality while strengthening
communications with customers. We have strictly
complied with the applicable laws and regulations in the
PRC and Hong Kong, including the Product Quality Law
of the PRC, the Consumer Protection Law of the PRC
and the Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Chapter 362) and
the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486).
During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations related to product responsibility in the PRC
and Hong Kong.

Customer Relations

The management plays a vital role in understanding and
communicating with what its customers need. Thus, the
Group has maintained years of business relationships
with its key customers and ensured the end product
fitting for the users. We recognise that customer
satisfaction is of primary importance to our success. We
strive to understand their requirements and concerns and
to merit their business by responding effectively to their
needs. Specifically, our policies include:

° Always put the customers first by providing them
with good quality cinema facilities, high quality
viewing environment and the services that meet or
exceed the customers’ needs under all reasonable
circumstances;
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° Provide service hotline and email enquiry channel,
in which all enquiries must be responded within 3
working days;

° Provide services that reliably and safely meet
responsible standards of performance, efficiency
and courtesy; and

° Provide timely, accurate and sufficient information
about its operations, capabilities and services,
without misrepresentation, exaggeration and
overstatement.

Accessible seats are provided for people with disability
and their carers. Subtitled screenings are provided
for deaf and hearing-impaired customers. Moreover,
it is the Group’'s standard practice to check every
customer’s identification cards when watching age-
restricted movies. During the reporting period, there
were no material products and service-related complaints
received.

Food Health and Safety at Cinemas

The Group obtained the Food Factory License issued
by Food and Environmental Hygiene Department
("FEHD™") and strictly complies with the policies and
relevant regulations set by FEHD. Officers from FEHD
regularly conducts inspection on the Group's film
exhibition premises to ensure food quality and hygienic
environment are maintained. Employees working at
concession stands are required to attend training courses
provided by the FEHD and strictly follow the food
preparation guidelines. During the reporting period, none
of the product sold or service rendered was subject to
recall due to safety and health problem.
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Copyrights Management

The Group has established a copyrights management
policy for its distribution and production of films, in
the aspects of copyright’s filing procedure, define
ownership of the copyrights and contract terms. Digital
Cinema Package (DCP) is used for movies for protection
against illegal copying and piracy as specific decryption
is required. In case of any suspected copyrights
infringement item coming to the Group's attention, the
policy also provides guidance on reporting structures
and responsible parties and departments. Moreover,
the Group enforces security encryption, subject to
customers’ instruction, and the Group sets securities
codes for internal data and privacy protection. The use
of pirate software is prohibited to avoid infringement of
copyrights of other parties. For film exhibition operation,
the Group ensures the warning message and policy
trailers are displayed to protect intellectual property
rights of the films exhibited in the cinemas. Employees
are required to strictly follow work procedures to patrol
inside the cinemas during screening to ensure no illegal
recording.

Personal Data Protection

The Group is committed to complying with data
protection principles and the requirements of the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance. Security software
is installed on server for data protection. No collected
personal data of employees, customers, suppliers and
cinemagoers shall be shared with any third party outside
the Group without their prior consent unless permitted
or requested by law. Only those employees who need
these personal data need to perform a specific task
with such information. For example, job application
and customer services are granted access rights for
personally identifiable information. Personal information
is retained only for such period whenever necessary for
carrying out of the purposes stated in the policy or as
otherwise specified at the time of collection.
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B7. ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group is committed to upholding high standards of
business ethics and integrity. The Group strictly abides
by the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and
Hong Kong, including the Criminal Law of the PRC and
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201) in
Hong Kong. The Group forbids any form of corruption,
extortion, bribery, fraud, money laundering and
embezzlement.

The Group has also established an anti-fraud policy and
code of conduct manual for employees to maintain the
highest standards of integrity and honesty in conducting
the Group's affairs. Any employee contravening the
Group's rules and ethical standards is liable to disciplinary
action.

The Group does not tolerate any illegal or unethical acts.
Anyone violating the code of conduct will be disciplined
and may be dismissed. The Group expects all employees
to honestly uphold the Group’s policy, the accounting
procedures and other controls. Employees should
report to the management at once when any suspected
violations of the code of conduct and anti-fraud policy
including conflicts of interest, deception, bribery, forgery,
extortion, corruption, theft, conspiracy, embezzlement,
asset misappropriation, false representation, concealment
of materials facts and collusion, fighting or gambling
whilst on duty, serious negligence of duties, money
laundering, etc. are found. This aims to minimize
damage to the Group’s reputation. In cases of suspected
corruption or other forms of criminality, once prima facie
evidence has been established, cases will be reported to
Hong Kong Independent Commission Against Corruption
or other appropriate regulatory authorities.
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The Group deeply believes that conducting the business
within an honest, moral and ethical arena is the best
business policy to achieve healthy and sustainable
growth of the Group. The Group manages and directs
its business with honesty including honest financial
procedures, budget proposals and honest economic
evaluation of its business. According to the code of
conduct, those who are involved in the selection of and
purchase from suppliers and contractors should avoid
misuse of authority or engagement in situations which
could interfere, or appear to interfere, with their ability to
make free and independent decisions regarding purchase
or procurement.

During the reporting period, no legal case concerned
with corrupt practices was brought against the Group.
Besides, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations related
to anti-corruption in the PRC and Hong Kong during the
year ended 30 June 2019.

COMMUNITY

B8. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group is
constantly aware of the needs of community and strives
to bring a positive impact on community development.
The Group encourages its employees to dedicate their
time and skills to supporting local communities with the
aim to create a harmonious society. The Group strives
to discharge its corporate social responsibility and has
been offering special movie ticket price for the elderly
and students. Moreover, we may consider supporting
non-governmental organisations through charity gala
premiere of the Group's productions or the films
exhibited in the Group’s cinemas.
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R BERE B F5 b Sz BT 7 X 3R 5 B Greenhouse Gas Emission”
[HE—ZERBEWHER] -
[ — R =R EEHE
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous “Emissions — Hazardous and 84-85
FARIEBIEIZA1.6 wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results Non-hazardous Wastes"
achieved [BE—EEREZEEY ]
EEREEEEMRER A AT R TR A
A2: Use of Resources A2 : &R {# F
General Disclosure —fRi#E “Use of Resources” 85
[ BRG]
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in “Use of Resources — Energy 85-86
AR A BUEIZA2.1 total and intensity Consumption”
RERBESNEER SMEAERERERTE [ERER—a2RERE]
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity “Use of Resources — Water 87
FARARBUEIZA2.2 BAXKBERTE Consumption”
[BRER—KERERE]
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and “Use of Resources — Energy 85-86
AR UIEIZA2.3 results achieved Consumption”
BE IR F R i 1 J% P 78 B 35 PR [ EREA—8eRERE]
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing “Use of Resources — Water 87
AR B WIBIZEA2.4 water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency Consumption”
initiatives and results achieved [BIREA—KERERE]
SKEGERKIRES B EAIFRE - 07K e & AT 8 A
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and,  Not applicable to the Group's N/A
AR EIEIZA2.5 if applicable, with reference to per unit produced business. TE A

RERKmNBEYHHEE N (HER) BEEEMHGE
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls) Sections Pages
THEE  BH —REERERENIEE =6 'R
A3: The Environment and Natural Resources A3 : BER XRER
General Disclosure —fRi%E “The Environment and Natural 88
Resources”
[REBERRARER]
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities “The Environment and Natural 88
FASR I BUIEIZAS1 on the environment and natural resources and the Resources”
actions taken to manage them [REBERRARER]
EREBEIRIERAANERNERNZE D RTINS B
1TENER A
B. Social B. #&
Employment and Labour Practices Ef§ &% T &1
B1: Employment B1 : {E{&
General Disclosure —fRi % “Employment” 88-92
[MEfE]
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age “Employment” 88-92
BRI BUIEIEB1 .1 group and geographical region [EfE ]
IR - BB - FhBR R IEEEE S HES B
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and “Employment” 88-92
BB AE IEIRB1.2 geographical region [EfE ]
IR Fic AR Kb IR [@ 1 S 5 M fE B KR
B2: Health and safety B2 : @ ER&Z %
General Disclosure —fRiE “Health and Safety” 92-93
[fERERZ]
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities “Health and Safety” 92-93
FARARBUEIEB2.1 ETEBEMTTAAZS KX [EREZZ]
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury “Health and Safety” 92-93
FARIEIEIZB2.2 ETEEAIIIEAS [RREZZ]
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures  “Health and Safety” 92-93
B E N IE1EB2.3 adopted, how they are implemented and monitored ~ [#FERZ2
R BERRERT2EWR  BEERER AN HHA
B3: Development and Training B3 : & &%
General Disclosure —f& i & “Development and Training” 94
[ 3R KiEHl ]
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employee trained by gender and The Group currently does not N/A
RASR 4B WFE1EB3.1 employee category report on this indicator. “NiE B
ZMRIREBENESNZIEET S L ANEE B AT &R S I IEIE AR o
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by  The Group currently does not N/A
RASR4E IE1ZR3.2 gender and employee category report on this indicator. iE A

RIERI R R BRI 5 &R 8 T e/ T8 5 5k 2

G [E B B R E LLIREAR o

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2018/19



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE - g LhERWRE

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls) Sections Pages
THEEE BEH —REERBREERER =4: 0] 'R
B4: Labour Standards B4 : & T X8|
General Disclosure —fRi%E “Labour Standards” 94-95
[& T8
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment “Labour Standards” 94-95
R A I EB4 .1 practices to avoid child and forced labour [& TR ]
5 9 299 DA 0. TR 3 512 T M0 4 9
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices “Labour Standards” 94-95
BARAE B TEBA.2 when discovered [T 8]]
T 23R 2 TS JH R 7 8 155 P B ER A 25 58 25i AR
Operating Practices & E %R
B5: Supply Chain Management B5 : {{fESEEE
General Disclosure —fR i E “Supply Chain Management” 95-96
[fEsEELE |
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region “Supply Chain Management” 95-96
BB BUEIEB5. 1 iR R E S R ERE SR [fEgEE LR |
KP| B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,  “Supply Chain Management” 95-96
RA4R 8 WS 1EB5.2 number of suppliers where the practices are being [ EIE |
implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored
ZEHRERANER EHREEERNOEERHE
s R B2 22 77 = A AR
B6: Product Responsibility B6 : E@RE1E
General Disclosure — R E “Product Responsibility” 96
[EmEE]
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to  “Product Responsibility — 96-97
RS 45 IS 1ZB6.1 recalls for safety and health reasons Customer Relations”
BEHEXHEERAHPTRLZE2ABRREERKY [EaEE-—EFP@ERER]
Btk
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints “Product Responsibility — 97
RAiR 4B 5 1ZB6.2 received and how they are dealt with Food Health and Safety at
BEEEHERMREHRFREREER Cinemas”
[EmBEE-—ThREORMEER
Eegeall
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and “Product Responsibility — 98
AR A IETER6.3 protecting intellectual property rights Copyrights Management”
BT RARE A E R AR R R A A [EmEE-—REERE]
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall “Product Responsibility — 96-97

FASR IEMIE1ZB6.4

procedures

HERFBELDWIZFHHA

Customer Relations”

[EREE-EFHE]
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THEEE BEH —REERBREERER =4: 0] 'R
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy “Product Responsibility — 98
AR IE IE1ZB6.5 policies, how they are implemented and monitored Personal Data Protection”
HEEBRMRERILBBCR - it Rk ERT A [EmEE—EAERRE]
B7: Anti-corruption B7 : R &5
General Disclosure —fRi#E “Anti-corruption” 99-100
[RES]
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt “Anti-corruption” 99-100
BRI BIEIZRT 1 practices brought against the issuer or its employees [R&}5 ]
during the reporting period and the outcomes of
the case
R EHRRBEITASEREREWEEARNERRGE
B REMGER
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- “Anti-corruption” 99-100
BRI BIEIZRT .2 blowing procedures, how they are implemented and [R&}5 ]
monitored
TabrtE i R R R - B RER G A A
Community &
B8: Community Investment B8 : £t EiR&E
General Disclosure —fRifE “Community Investment” 100
[HEKE ]
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, The Group currently does not N/A
B SR AR W FE1ZBS. 1 environmental concerns, labour needs, health, report on this indicator. TiE A
culture, sport) NS B B AT A LI AR o
BTEREE(NHE BREE - BIFK - BF
- 885)
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the The Group currently does not N/A
FARARIEIEBS.2 focus area report on this indicator. ENEl

HETHBMER AN ER(N S EAEHE)

AL B A RS LIRS -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

RV 2GRS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Transmit
Entertainment Limited (the “"Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 112 to 290,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 30 June 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
30 June 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters

BREELER

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

FTNERNAEERRELER

Impairment loss on film and television rights and film and television series production in progress

EXREGBINRELRRFET ERE R BV 6 FEE R

We identified the impairment loss on film and
television rights and film and television series
production in progress as a key audit matter due to
the significance of the Group's film and television
rights and film and television series production in
progress to the consolidated financial statements
and the judgment and estimation uncertainty
involved in the management’'s impairment
assessment of the film and television rights and
film and television series production in progress.
RITBRNEF REBRBIREANBUEREY NERE
WRAEEERAREZEE  EHRN BXEEY
BARMIEARBEPER RERBI LIRS M BHRERD
BEUUAREREHEY NERBINREALRBERSE
% N BRBIEITRE R (E P2 I B i 5t T EARA A
=

As at 30 June 2019, the carrying amount of film
and television rights and film and television series
production in progress amounted to HK$4,787,000
and HK$134,203,000, respectively. In determining
whether impairment on film and television rights
and film and television series production in progress
is required, the Group takes into consideration the
distribution and license agreements entered into
by the Group and the current market environment
to project cash flows expected to be received
through box office receipts and distribution and
licensing income. Impairment loss is recognised in
the period in which the recoverable amount is less
than the carrying amount. As disclosed in notes 4
and 20 to the consolidated financial statements,
an impairment loss of film and television series
production in progress of HK$4,412,000 was
recognised and charged to profit or loss for the year
ended 30 June 2019.

20196 A30H © B K TR BIMRE A R EIEH
B REREINEREES R AE4,787,0007T k&
#134,203,0007T © A TE B 5 [k AR B hiu i LA R &Y
ERETRNERERESRTEELRER X B5EZ
B BREFTUMBITREITRERT I A RE
R TISIRIE - VRBERE WA RBEITAREITHEE
AT A TE RIS TE AR &R 2 - BEBER
A EeEDREREENHMRER o iRE BB mE
MIEF4 K 20F73 % - #lE2019F6 A30H IEFEE#
REER B RBRBINAEE4,412,0007T R EE B
WRiEALR °

Our procedures in relation to the impairment loss on
film and television rights and film and television series
production in progress included:

TR EBEL R EBRBIREARREREL RERBERER
BrRFe:

e Understanding the process of how management
performs impairment assessment on the film and
television rights and film and television series
production in progress;

e THEEREEHEYRERBMEURMEFELRES
BIETTRER (AT

e FEvaluating the appropriateness of the methodology
used by management in determining the recoverable
amounts of the film and television rights and film and
television series production in progress; and

e NEEREEErEXRERBMEARRERELRE
REFI OIS ERATRA R ENGEN - &

e FEvaluating the reasonableness of the assumptions
used in the future cash flow projection and challenging
the management’'s assessment on the expected
revenue to be generated by the film and television
rights and film and television series production in
progress by checking the film and television budget
summary to the contract amounts of the distribution
and licensing agreements and the estimated film box
office receipts to the historical trend of similar film and
television released.

o FBBERITRETREATIMEANELAELESR
RZE FMBEUSENATBRGANELEFK
A FHEREBR S RIBAMARENEEEREREE
BHEZLEREREAREEREL RERE EED
TE AR R A AT A ©
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Key audit matters

BREELER

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

FTNERNAEERRELER

Impairment assessment of goodwill

BB R EFF I

We identified the impairment assessment
of goodwill as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and significant
judgement and estimate involved in determination
of the recoverable amount of cash generating unit
("CGU") to which goodwill has been allocated.
RITHRPIEBREMEAARERER  EaNHEY
RV BRRERERC BEENRETE D RERE
ZEHeEABN([REEEEN]) 2B EY
EVN -SSR

As disclosed in notes 4 and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements, the carrying amount of
goodwill was HK$411,876,000 as at 30 June
2019, which was arose from the acquisition of
subsidiaries as disclosed in note 37. In estimating
the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
goodwill has been allocated, the management
has made a number of key assumptions in the
value in use calculations. The key assumptions
include growth rates, discount rates, the forecast
performance in respect of budgeted sales and
budgeted costs based on management’s view of
future business prospects. As disclosed in note 15,
based on the objective evidences, no impairment
loss was required for the year ended 30 June 2019.
WERE MK 4R BFTH T - BE5EMN2019
F6H30AEmENREERE®411,876,0007T * J5
TP EEI7 P B8 2 Wi HE BT B8 R RIS RRIE » IMAFTE

EmEsReELEU RO RER - BIEE
E@ﬁﬁf B ERELETIERR - T2BERBRE

REBEEEEHRREFINSMNELREEHEREE
PR ET YIS R TR AR IR o tsE16FTH%5E - 1R
BEREEE  HE2019F6 8308 It FEHEHER
B8 -

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill included:

AITRAREERENENEF 2 -

Understanding the process of how management
performs impairment assessment of goodwill;

I AR E IR B AN Al 1T R B AR E AT A ¢

Challenging the key assumptions used, including
specifically the operating cash flow projections
and growth rates based on our knowledge of the
entertainment related industry as well as historical
performance of the Group;

BEMTANEERE  BE(LHER)RBRITEHRS
HATENMEN SEEBREREMELNLLERS
/}ILE%E E‘J&i‘ET

Engaging our internal valuation expert to assess the
discount rates used in the impairment assessment
model by benchmarking against independent data;
ZRABHEZRAB BB AESE - SHERENGIE
A FTRRRLER &

Testing a selection of data inputs underpinning the
cash flow forecast against appropriate supporting
evidence, such as approved budgets, to assess the
accuracy and reliability; and

BEBENIFTE  FINENEE  BEXRFASR
EEANSETH AR - Ui EmERAER &

Assessing the sensitivity analysis prepared by
management on the significant assumptions to
evaluate the extent of impact on the recoverable
amounts of the cash generating units.
AEEREERERBRREEOBREIN - LT EER
CEEBUMNANESENTERE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2018/19

HESRAKBELL ST ERMNEEEIE
HaEwm - RIBFMERNBZEE  BE
ERFEESFAEXNBREFNERNTHEE
o EmAT e EHY BERENKELE
RENELEARE - MRATTRRFEE
KTﬁﬁﬁ QA v EEZBENRE P2
@%%& AR B B % R AR R A AR R B
cBREBEWETRE @ BIXITTREEN
Eﬁ RITH AR ENZ B EN RS B H
IEFTBVS VBB » AT - RIRBIAK
ERAREER BEREFELEFELE -

AHERAMBEMROBRBINEI N - &8
AR @ BREE  UWREEMBHRERE
BREHRTARRBEARZSNER

# BEEEAERBXEHEHNUBER
R R  BENERTERRE  UEHEE
MBBRERER - ATRE BEEEEFE
ZEITIA ~ BB METT - NTR/BERER

AEREEIE -

AITEBMBERARBR(ETERE)BZRY
AHEEE - BETH  EAEZERE 8
EAITHEEZP R AR EH R ERER
BRBE
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Lee Po Chi.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

25 September 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

4= AYESE T

AN

Hib 2 mE U

17}

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 L5 E

2019 2018
20195 2018%F
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
B &E BT T AT IT
Revenue g & 5 668,130 274,640
Cost of sales PHERK KR (405,843) (136,196)
Gross profit EF 262,287 138,444
Other gains and losses Hib ek N EiE 7 21,055 8,608
Other income HAb WA 7 11,347 7,681
Selling and distribution expenses HE REITHIX (207,271) (200,624)
Administrative expenses TR (67,316) (50,981)
Net foreign exchange (loss) gain FE 3 (B8 ) Wk F5E (226) 1,859
Impairment loss on property, plant W - BELRREBRERE
and equipment - (40,579)
Impairment loss on interests in RE N R E=REEE
associates 17 (16,317) (22,295)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale 7] &% & KB EE B
investment 21 - (2,736)
Impairment loss on investment in BEY,/ BB RERRER
film/drama production %@ 22 - (19,613)
Fair value change on contingent RS A BRI A FEE
consideration payable 37 (20,511) -
Finance costs A& KA 8 (11,630) (262)
Share of results of associates JE(REEE R A EE (1,484) 74
Share of results of a joint venture ElE—HEaehEESE 97 445
Loss before tax PRELATE 1B (29,969) (179,979)
Income tax expense i > 9 (5,719) (10,072)
Loss for the year FRERE 10 (35,688) (190,051)
Other comprehensive income FREMZEBRA (FAX)
(expense) for the year
[tems that may be reclassified RS EEN SRR Em A
subsequently to profit or loss A
Reclassification adjustments upon StABHZ —MEBARRE
disposal of a subsidiary included in ’i{éi%ﬁ"*ﬁgﬂﬁ
profit or loss 165 -
Share of exchange difference of EE—HeLrERHBE
a joint venture arising on translating BINETFEEME R =7
foreign operation (133) 28
Share of exchange difference of (R —REE A RRBE
an associate arising on translating INETSEERE R E58
foreign operation 305 (39)
Exchange difference arising on BONETSIRE [ =R
translating foreign operation 5,266 (1,373)
5,603 (1,384)
Total comprehensive expense FRE2EMAXEEHE
for the year (30,085) (191,435)

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2018/19



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

reBm REMEm R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z201946 A30H I F[E

2019 2018
20195 20184
NOTE HK$°000 HK$'000
iz BET T BT
Loss for the year attributable to: THALEEERNES :
— Owners of the Company AVNCIEZ N (35,504) (189,750)
- Non-controlling interests — FEPE R A (184) (301)
(35,688) (190,051)
Total comprehensive expense for  THATEEFERNREBX
the year attributable to: FoEC
— Owners of the Company AVNCIEZ N (29,901) (191,134)
- Non-controlling interests — FEFE R 2 (184) (301)
(30,085) (191,435)
Loss per share FREE 13
Basic (HK cents) EARCGE) (1.37) (7.31)

BIRIREA R /A7) 2018/19 &)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

sre AR

At 30 June 2019 72201946 H30H

2019 2018
20194 20184
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B &E BT T ST IT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BEREE 14 88,281 99,005
Goodwill S 15 411,876 -
Intangible assets mIEE 16 5,600 5,600
Interests in associates N NS s 17 8,418 28,114
Interest in a joint venture R—EEETENER 18 169 205
Rental deposits HE®S 19 30,358 31,125
Deferred tax assets EEFIEE E 35 161 1,179
544,863 165,228
Current assets REBEE
Film and television rights B RERBINRE 20 4,787 1,772
Film and television series production  BL/EHREF & ERE
in progress 20 134,203 140,058
Available-for-sale investment A ERE 21 = 1,320
Investments in film/drama production & &5, EBEIEE 22 - 2,920
Inventories FE 23 685 690
Trade and other receivables 5 K E b EBEIE 24 162,719 9,619
Rental deposits HE®S 19 19,163 18,712
Amounts due from related companies JEUSEHE A A7) 7018 31 - 143
Tax recoverable A Y (3] 7 T8 713 716
Pledged bank deposits BRI IRITIF K 25 664 10,661
Bank balances and cash WITHEBR NS 26 122,035 76,336
444,969 262,947
Assets classified as held for sale DB BIFHE A EHENEE 39 - 28,275
444,969 291,222
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R HAFEFIR 27 219,555 119,469
Contract liabilities aHaE 28 46,562 -
Receipts in advance TEU IR 28 = 154,663
Tax payable JERTTRIE 5,585 4
Bank and other borrowings HRIT R EAE R 29 65,220 8,208
Loans from a related company —EEB AR ZER 30 64,274 -
Amounts due to related companies FEf AR R R 5K TE 31 = 40,031
Amount due to a joint venture B —fEAa & ERIEAE 32 385 8,296
Contingent consideration payable FEST B AME 37 139,235 -
540,816 330,671
Liabilities associated with assets EAOBEASEIMERENEE
classified as held for sale HEnaE 39 - 8,362
540,816 339,033
Net current liabilities REBAEEFEE (95,847) (47,811)

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2018/19



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
KR AR R

At 30 June 2019 72201946 H30H

2019 2018

20194 2018%F

NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000

Bt ek BT T BT

Total assets less current liabilities #AEERRBERE 449,016 117,417
Non-current liabilities FREBAE

Deposits received BIES 27 950 1,116

Bonds payable FERHEH 33 22,000 -

Loans from a related company —FHIBE AR 2B 30 161,695 -

Contingent consideration payable RS AR (E 37 178,155 -

362,800 1,116

Net assets EEFE 86,216 116,301
Capital and reserves EXR#E

Share capital A% A 34 6,489 6,489

Reserves R 83,690 113,591

Equity attributable to owners AATEE ABGRER

of the Company 90,179 120,080

Non-controlling interests FEERER (3,963) (3,779)

Total equity RERBHE 86,216 116,301

The consolidated financial statements on pages 112 to 290 were HNF1125F290B 2 5B HREDER
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the NEEE2R2019F9 A26 A #t /& &% #E T

Company on 25 September 2019 and are signed on its behalf by: o WHIULTATRARE
Zhang Liang, Johnson Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick
RE FEKX
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GARBEDE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z201946 A30H I F[Z

Attributable to owners of the Company

ANEHEENER
Non-
Share Share Other Exchange  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
A& R&yaE Afbite B b ZithE Nt FERER 2

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BT BRI BT BRI BRI BT BRI

(Note)
(RizE)
At 1 July 2017 201757418 6,489 521,046 10 (2,223) (214,108) 311,214 (3,478) 307,736
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (189,750) (189,750) (301) (190,051)
Share of exchange difference ElH-BAECERRE
of a joint venture arising on BEBEANELEE
translating foreign operation - - - 28 - 28 - 28
Share of exchange difference of el —TEBL AR RIE
an associate arising on N FEEENELER
translating foreign operation - - - (39) - (39) - (39)
Exchange difference arising on NN EBHE 7 EREE
translating foreign operation - B - (1,373) - (1,373) - (1,373)
Total comprehensive expense ER2ARYAE
for the year - - - (1,384) (189,750) (191,134 (301) (191,435)
At 30 June 2018 2018564308 6,489 521,046 10 (3,607) (403,858) 120,080 (3,779) 116,301

Loss for the year FRER S - -
Reclassification adjustments upon 3t A% —EHBATLE

disposal of a subsidiary included % E3 2 (IH5138(a)

in profit or loss (note 38(al) - - - 165 - 165 - 165
Share of exchange difference lE-HaerERRE

of a joint venture arising on BIEBEANELEE

(35,504) (35,504) (184) (35,688)

translating foreign operation - - - (133) - (133) - (133)
Share of exchange difference of  Eff—BEHAAIRAE

an associate arising on INFBEENELER

translating foreign operation - - - 305 - 305 - 305
Exchange difference arisingon ~ BINERREZEHEE

translating foreign operation - - - 5,266 - 5,266 - 5,266

Total comprehensive income ERZEANA(RR) LB
(expense) for the year - - - 5,603 (35,504) (29,901) (184) (30,085)

At 30 June 2019 201956 430A 6,489 521,046 10 1,996 (439,362) 90,179 (3,963) 86,216

Note: Other reserve represents the difference between the aggregate Wizt : EiEEEIEREAEEAEEAN KD

nominal value of the respective share capital of the companies NEBBATSHARAF ([BZFET )
now comprising the subsidiaries of the Company over the nominal GEM LA S5 89 28 M 201210 A5 H
value of the shares of the Company issued pursuant to the group =Rk EEEMA(TEA])  BAKANA T
reorganisation completed on 5 October 2012 (the “Reorganisation”) ZHB A BB A FE B RN A (E E AN
to rationalise the structure of the Group in preparation for the listing of FE BT AL =58 -

the Company’s shares on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
rARERER

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 L5 E

2019 2018
20195 20184
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B &E BET T ST IT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 4R T B
Loss before tax MR FH R RSB (29,969) (179,979)
Adjustments for: ISR RS
Finance costs BB A 13,206 262
Interest income A B A 7 (771) (426)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEMEREITE
equipment 14 14,449 18,887
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, LEWE  BEK
plant and equipment HEEE () 14 2 (80)
Loss on disposal of prepayment HEFENE B RIEEE
to an artiste 18 - 3,600
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE—MEH B AR KaE 38 (21,057) (268)
Impairment loss on investment in WEEY,/BEEER
film/drama production RIEBE 22 — 19,613
Impairment loss on property, plant ME - HEMERER
and equipment FEE B 14 - 40,579
Impairment loss on available-for-sale At &R E Y RIEE R
investment 21 - 2,736
Impairment loss on interests in R—FEE & QRS
associates BIEE B 17 16,317 22,295
Impairment loss on film and television — &{ER B & BEEIH
series production in progress DEREY SE 20 4,412 15,378
Fair value change on contingent ERAREBORAFE
consideration payable peaEg) 37 20,511 -
Share of results of associates S NI 17 1,484 (74)
Share of results of a joint venture i —AEaEhEREE 18 (97) (445)
Operating cash flows before EEECEIYIIKLERERE
movements in working capital 18,487 (567,922)
Decrease (increase) in film and B RE R EUEREZ R D
television rights and film and (3Z4n)
television series production in
progress 106,575 (30,661)
Decrease in investments in KEEY,BERER D
film/drama production 2,774 5,210
Decrease (increase) in inventories GFERD(EM) 5 (144)
Increase in trade and other receivables & 5 N E b f& Y X IE L 1 (94,867) (4,344)
Decrease in prepayment to an artiste  F8{1)8 8 F I8 = 14,400
Decrease (increase) in rental deposits FAEiZ 4R (3% H0) 316 (6,294)
Decrease (increase) in amounts from  FEUERE A B 201854 (32 40)
related companies 143 (143)
Increase in trade and other B REAMEMNTIER
payables and deposits received 2 YR £ 1L 0 57,924 64,805
Increase in receipts in advance TR IELE AN = 83,175
Increase in amounts due to related JE <t BB N R Rk IR LS h0
companies 30 5
(Decrease) increase in amount due to  JEff —EA& L ¥EKIE
a joint venture R A ) 380 (7,911) 6,180
Decrease in contract liabilities sHaERD (132,328) -
Cash (used in) generated from operations &4 (FTA)FT1EIHR & (48,852) 74,267
Income tax paid ETFREH (103) (11,263)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM KEES (TR MEREFE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (48,955) 63,004
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEBRLMER

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 E

2019 2018
20195 20184
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B &E BT T ST IT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES & EH
Net cash outflow on acquisition of WWEEM B AR 2 FE5E
subsidiaries 37 (149,922) -
Purchase of property, plant and BEMZE  WFELRE
equipment (16,552) (101,916)
Net cash inflow on disposal of HEWB AR ZRERAFRE
subsidiaries 38 25,565 12,014
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits  32ERE K BIRITIF X 10,000 30,589
Dividend received from an associate B —RH& A TIRE 17 2,200 3,080
Proceeds from disposal of financial HESREERATERA
assets at fair value through B 2 TSR
profit or loss 1,320 -
Interest received 2 WF B 7 771 426
Placement of pledged bank deposits BRI MIBITEH - (10,000)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE BB MREBMER
plant and equipment 15 - 824
Deposit received from disposal of HE—RHBARMBERRS
a subsidiary = 2,400
Dividend received from a joint venture BI—RE&LNDERKRE 18 - 727
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REZBIARSFHE
ACTIVITIES (126,618) (61,856)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES B EE
Loans from a related company —EEB AR ZER 202,401 -
Proceeds from bank and BR1T R EH AL GRS RIE
other borrowings 26,220 10,000
Proceeds from issuance of bonds BATE TS RR 22,000 -
Repayment of loans from a related EBEBEBATER
company (17,250) -
Repayment of bank and BIRRIT R AMAE K
other borrowings (12,866) (1,792)
Interest paid B E (1,913) (262)
(Repayment of) advance from (BE)af—MEB A R 2
a related company I8 (1,000) 40,000
NET CASH FROM FINANCING REEREMEIRE T
ACTIVITIES 217,592 47,946
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH R4 MRS ZE(BYIEInFEaE
EQUIVALENTS 42,019 49,094
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT  E¥HR4& RRESEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 79,379 31,998
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ~ /NEEREEHMTE
RATE CHANGES 637 (1,713)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRRG LRSS EFED
AT END OF THE YEAR 122,035 79,379
Represented by i1
Bank balances and cash IRITREBR LIRS 122,035 76,336
Cash and cash equivalents included SFADBEABEENELRE
in assets classified as held for sale BEMNRESRBESEEY = 3,043
122,035 79,379
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

B MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 L5 E

1A.

1B.

GENERAL

Transmit Entertainment Limited is a public limited company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange. The Company's registered office is
located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its principal
place of business is located at Flat B, 14/F, Neich Tower,
128 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. Its immediate
and ultimate holding company is Nice Rich Group Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Island (the “BVI").
Its ultimate controlling shareholder is Mr. Zhang Liang,
Johnson, who is also the Chairman and an executive director of
the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 47.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had net current liabilities
of HK$95,847,000 (2018: HK$47,811,000). The net current
liabilities included contract liabilities of HK$46,562,000
(2018: receipts in advance of HK$154,663,000) which will be
recognised as revenue upon the delivery of the film negatives
and television (“TV") series program to the customers and
TV broadcast networks and shall not have any cash outflow
to the Group, bank and other borrowings of HK$65,220,000
which was repayable within one year (2018: HK$8,208,000
was drawn from a banking facility of HK$10,000,000 and were
repayable on demand) and loans from a related company of
HK$64,274,000 (2018: Nil) which were unsecured, interest-
bearing at 7% per annum and repayable within one year.

1A. —REHR

1B.

BRREFR AR —HRRASHST
MR RARERAGE - HAR MG 5
R ET o ANDQ AR P EE AR
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands + H = B & 2 3 2 (i1
REBEFETITE128RFERNE4
EBE - HEEREXZER AT ANice
Rich Group Limited * A— MR KB E
TS ([RBRAAES ) EMRINA
A o HEKIERIRRARELA - HIT
RARBIZFEFRRPITES -

ARRIR—HAREZRAR  ENEA
BESESE 3 AN L YA

HEMBRRIDARRE 2R ZT
gEE(EE 25 -

REMBHRR 2 EHUEE

R2019F6 A30H - "EBEE R
B & F (B #)75 ¥ 95,847,000 7T (2018
0 HE47,811,000T) - mE A G
FEBES L EEE46,562,0007T
(20184 : UL TE B ¥ 154,663,000
T)(ABREZIEMER RER([E
BDERNFEFREREEREKE
BRAEKZ TR EBED
FEREERL) « RITREMERTEE
65,220,000 /B R —F NEE (2018
& 818,208,000 IR HIRITRLE
75 % 10,000,000 5T I 7B 1Z E Sk E E )
RRE—MEBARZEREBE
64,274,000 7T (20184 : ) B £ K
B IREFERTI%BT BN AR —FRE
;ﬁo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 E

1B. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), after taking into account, among other things,
the financial resources available to the Group including the
future cash flows to be generated from the film and TV series
production and distribution and the new placing agreement
dated 16 September 2019 is entered into by the Company
and the placing agent for the bonds of an aggregate principal
amount of up to HK$150,000,000 with a maturity date of three
years from the bond issuance date. The Directors are satisfied
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet
its financial obligations and commitments as and when they
fall due within the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that it
is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
of the Group on a going concern basis. Management is not
aware of any material uncertainties related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 #,Z 201946 A30H (- &

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “"HKICPA") for the first time in the current

year:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments

HK(IFRIC) - Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of

Share-based Payment Transactions
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to Hong Kong  As part of the Annual Improvements to

Accounting Standards HKFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle
("HKAS") 28
Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group's financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

P& R #TR] R RS RT B R B IS
EEA(TERMBHREE
a1 1)

JR 7N R [ 58 1 AE SRV HTRT I
RIER] B R M B REER
AEBERSFEEREAATRES

SEEAR([HEGTHAE])RHZ
BEREPBHREER

BEMBREEL  eBIA

FE95k
EEMBHREEDN  EFANOMEREEH
155 {£3]

EE(EBRRBHRE IIMERHREFARE
2BZEe)-2E
F225
EEMBHREEDN  RHAERORT
EYLACHYY) RGP EREE
EEMBREEDN  EEAAMEREEA
F4(BFTX) FORSRMIARER
B 3R 2 Rl 45
RBAEH
BAGIHER fEBE SRR s &R
([BEE:ERl]) 201422016
F28% (BFIK) FENEZ D
RS ENFEAR BRELENE
({E3T7)

BRI XAt E SN - RANFEEEAFR] &
RIETBEAV B RS LN T EHAEH
RAFE B EFEMIERRMRR
R/ RZEEAUEBRRAFNREE
EERTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z201946 A30H It F[Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. EA#HI RLETEBH K

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HEA([EBMBHREE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) (continued) Al 1) ca)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are MRAFERGERNIFT R
mandatorily effective for the current year LAERT BB R EZER @)
(Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers
The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18 Revenue,
HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related
interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect of initially applying this Standard
recognised at the date of initial application, 1 July
2018. Any difference at the date of initial application is
recognised in the opening accumulated losses (or other
components of equity, as appropriate) and comparative
information has not been restated. Furthermore, in
accordance with the transition provisions in HKFRS
15, the Group has elected to apply the Standard
retrospectively only to contracts that are not completed
at 1 July 2018. Accordingly, certain comparative
information may not be comparable as comparative
information was prepared under HKAS 18 Revenue and
the related interpretations.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major
sources which arise from contracts with customers:

° Film and TV series production and distribution
° Film exhibition

° Others

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2018/19
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z201946 A30H I F[E

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective for the current year &

(Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)

Information about the Group’s performance obligations
and the accounting policies resulting from application of
HKFRS 15 are disclosed in notes 5 and 3, respectively.

Summary of effects arising from initial application of

HKFRS 15

At the date of initial application, 1 July 2018, there is
no difference recognised in the opening accumulated

losses.

As at 1 July 2018, receipts in advance from customers
amounted to HK$154,663,000 previously included
in receipts in advance were reclassified to contract
liabilities. The impacts from the application of HKFRS 15
thereof are shown in the following table.

FER#HET REIERTE B MK
HEA(EBYEREE
Al ]) ()

RAFERBNERPWHFHET R
] BB RS ER @)

2.1 B KEREERF 155

EE&S# W @)
EREAEBRREYNEENERSTSE
B 75 3R 45 2E B 55 155 T B B R
K E RS BIRKIFEs M3 -

BERERAEBUGREERZE1S
SECRENE
REXERHB(2018F7 A1
) $ERBYRTEIBER
B o

R2018F7H1H » LRIzt ATEUW
FRIBH R B R P H B U SR IE S
154,663,000LEEH D EBELD
BE - -ERABBMBEREEDNSE
16RB S EFHIA T °

Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously Impact on under
reported at adoption of HKFRS 15
30 June 2018 HKFRS 15 at 1 July 2018*
] REEEBHH
120184 BaBEBUYT HEEHE15H
6A308 IHEEAIE155 M2018F7AH1AH
EHNREE M8 M EREE*
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B et AT BT BT
(audited) (restated)
(&%) (kg=51)
Current liabilities nBEE
Receipts in advance BUGRIA 28 154,663 (154,663) -
Contract liabilities AnaE 28 - 154,663 154,663
@ The amounts in this column are before the adjustments * NREZBART M ERS S

from the application of HKFRS 9.

B & AL 95 AT 1E Y
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z201946 A30H It F[Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers (Continued)

The following tables summarise the impacts of applying
HKFRS 15 on consolidated statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2019 and its consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year for each of the line items
affected. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.

Impact on the consolidated statement of financial

2. ERHIREBIERBHK
EEA(TERMBHREE
ENDIE )

TR 7R 5 2 38 Bl A ORY HT T R
RIET BB B ®EZER @)

21 BEMBRELEAFE155
EFE &G4 K ®)
TEREXFZEZSEHEMAER
BEEMBEHREEFIHFERN
201946 A30 B M#r & M IS AR
REHEFRGEABEERERZY
2. KXBEXEYTENHEUE
BEEA -

B BRI KA &

position

Amounts
without
application
As reported Adjustments of HKFRS 15
RERBRIE
BEERE155
MEH AE 28
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B BT AT IT BT IT

Current liabilities nBEE
Receipts in advance AU IR 28 - 46,562 46,562
Contract liabilities EHEE 28 46,562 (46,562) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z201946 A30H I F[E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERAHIRKEIIEBB®E

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HEA([BEBMBEHRELE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued) Al 1)
New and amendments to HKFRSs that are RAFEBRBNERNIFTR
mandatorily effective for the current year AEET B B R IREZER (@)
(Continued)
2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 2.1 B KEREERF 155
Customers (Continued) EEEH W m)
Impact on the consolidated statement of cash flows Hira e nexkn T E
Amounts
without
application
As reported Adjustments of HKFRS 15
RERBBIE
HEERE155
] A e x|
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT BET T

Operating activities REER

Decrease in receipts BB

in advance - (132,328) (132,328)
Decrease in contract EHEERD

liabilities (132,328) 132,328 -

EIRIREEH R A ] 2018/19 &3
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments, and the related consequential
amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces new
requirements for (1) the classification and measurement
of financial assets and financial liabilities, (2) expected
credit losses ("ECL") for financial assets and (3) general

hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied
the classification and measurement requirements
(including impairment under ECL model) retrospectively
to instruments that have not been derecognised as at 1
July 2018 (date of initial application) and has not applied
the requirements to instruments that have already been
derecognised as at 1 July 2018. The difference between
carrying amounts as at 30 June 2018 and the carrying
amounts as at 1 July 2018, if any, are recognised in the
opening accumulated losses and other components of

equity, without restating comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared
under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement. Accounting policies resulting from

application of HKFRS 9 are disclosed in note 3.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2018/19

2.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 &, £201956 A30H It FE

FER#HET REIERTE B MK
HEA(EBYEREE
Al ]) ()

RAFERBNERPWHFHET R
LRAESFT BB E IR SR (@)

22 BERAVKRELEREIFL
ET A
K& B AR E BB B SR
SEABEIRSHTARKEMES
BSR4 ER 2 SRR EST -
BB MELENEIFBIATS
EEAFHTE : NeMEERS
MEBZHERIE  eRE
ExEHEEBR((EHEES
B RO —RE PSR o

AEBIRIBER BB HELERE9
SRETE BB ER B BTG
HMEHER|FO5E - B R 201847
A1H(EXERB ) KRR IEHER
ZeMTARPERS BN
RE(BEEHEEBERERATZ
BIE) - M¥R2018F7A1HE
RILFER 2 TAATERABRER
F o BRAEEMR2018F6 A30H &
2018F 7 AMH ZZ5E (A ) TR
Y2t EERES 2 Mo
R ABILEER -

EHit - AR LEERER TRIEES
Gt EREIR L F T A - 7
RATERE  BTHERERIT
BErftb - AR BV HHmESE
BIEOSRE A 2 TR IR M s
3WE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z201946 A30H I F[E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of

HKFRS 9

The table below illustrates the classification and
measurement (including impairment) of financial assets
subject to ECL under HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39 at the date
of initial application, 1 July 2018.

Closing balance

FER#HET REIERTE B MK
HEA(EBYEREE
Al ]) ()

RAFERBNERPWHFHET R
LRAESFT BB E IR SR (@)

2.2 EBUBREEDEIES

=N
B X e & B B 53R & 2E R E 955
CEEHE

TR AR YA EM B H2018%F
TRVBRBEEMEHRELE
HRBAGHERIFIRZAH
EEBRERARNEREEZN
FEHE(BRERE) -

Opening balance

at 30 June 2018 Reclassification at 1 July 2018
under HKAS 39 under HKFRS 9 under HKFRS 9
REEBS REEBMK
%R 553955 RESEME REEFIR
7201856 A30H HEER K2018F781H
MEIRES: HIREHIE MEI &R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT
(audited) (restated)
(&%) (/=E7)
Current assets REBEE
Available-for-sale ("AFS”) Al & ([AIHTE )EE
investment 1,320 (1,320) -
Financial assets at fair R FERERAR
value through profit (MR FEREREAR]Z
or loss (“FVTPL") THEE - 1,320 1,320
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)
2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Classification of AFS investment
From AFS investment to financial assets at FVTPL

At the date of initial application of HKFRS 9, the Group's
debt investment of HK$1,320,000, which was previously
measured at cost less impairment, was reclassified from

AFS investment to financial assets at FVTPL.

Impairment under ECL model

The Group applied the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. To measure the ECL, except for those
trade receivables have been assessed individually with
significant outstanding balances, the remaining balances
are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics.
The Group has therefore concluded that the expected

loss rates for the trade receivables are reasonable.

Loss allowances for other financial assets at amortised
cost mainly comprise of other receivables, amounts due
from related companies, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances, are measured on 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
basis and there had been no significant increase in credit

risk since initial recognition.
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7K 5 2 58 Il A AT HT RT R

LAERT BB EHREZER @)

22 BERUVKBRESERFEINRE
=N
A ERER S
BRIt HERETZAFERIE
HARZERMEE

RYIRERBRYHHRE LD E9
Stz B ANER B 5T B R A RURL
Bt 8 2 EBREE1,320,000
TERAHRLEREEHNEE
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BHIEEERENE N2 HE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z201946 A30H I F[E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)

2.2

2.3

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Impairment under ECL model (Continued)

As at 1 July 2018, no additional credit loss allowance
has been recognised against accumulated losses as the
amounts involved are insignificant.

Except as described above, the application of HKFRS 9
has had no material impact on the amounts reported set
out in these consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on opening consolidated statement
of financial position arising from the

application of all new standards

As a result of the changes in the Group’s accounting
policies above, the opening consolidated statement of
financial position had to be restated. The following table
shows the adjustments recognised for each of the line
items affected. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.

2.

FER#HET REIERTE B MK
HEA(EBYEREE
Al |)

MRAFEBRBERNNHFTR
LRAESFT BB E IR SR (@)

22 BERAMBBRELEREIRE
T A )
TERIE B 1E1E =R T2 1B (%)
20187 A18 » ARATH S HE
WrRE - JURENRTEER

RIEMBIMEEBIBRE o

Bk EXCRratz5h - R E M
WEEANFIFH I FHRAMH R
RTINS RLBEATE -

2.3 ERFB T ZEAE
REVBRRR2EE

HRASE LSRR ZE
8 B AMBIRARAT N
B - TRINTHEZZENR
BRR AR  REXEHTE
MIAB W EBEEA -

EIRIREEH R A ] 2018/19 &3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z201946 A30H It F[Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)

2.3 Impacts on opening consolidated statement

of financial position arising from the

application of all new standards (Continued)

2.

FER#HET REIERTE B MK
HEA(EBYEREE
Al ]) ()

MRAFEBRBERNNHFTR
LRAESFT BB E IR SR (@)

2.3 FE P A #TR] £ RIS HIH)
REUBRRAR2EE

(#&)

Impact on Impact on

30 June adoption of adoption of 1 July

2018

HKFRS 15 HKFRS 9 2018

KRB RMEB
MBRE MBRE

2018F %#RAIFE155%  ERIFIR 20185
6H30H 0pZ 0pZ 7H1H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETIT BEET I BET I BET I
(audited) (restated)
(LFEZ) C=2))
Current assets REEE
AFS investment AHEEERE 1,320 - (1,320) -
Financial assets at RAFERERAR
FVTPL L EREE - - 1,320 1,320
Current liabilities REBEE
Receipts in advance AW FIB 154,663 (154,663) - -
Contract liabilities ARAE - 154,663 - 154,663

Note: For the purposes of reporting cash flows from operating
activities under indirect method for the year ended 30
June 2019, movements in working capital have been
computed based on opening consolidated statement of
financial position as at 1 July 2018 as disclosed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z201946 A30H I F[E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs and new
interpretation issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs and new interpretation that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

HK(FRIC) - Int 23

Amendments to
HKFRS 3
Amendments to
HKFRS 9
Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
Amendments to
HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8
Amendments to
HKAS 19
Amendments to
HKAS 28
Amendments to
HKFRSs

Leases'
Insurance Contracts?®

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments'

Definition of a Business*

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Definition of Material®

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement’

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures'

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015
—2017 Cycle!

2.

FER#HET REIERTE B MK
HEA(EBYEREE
Al ]) ()

e 78 {8 = R £ AV HTRT I
KRETEBEYMBREENR
el ig

REE W WITFEAATCEMER R

T AT R AR AT BB TS B
BETITRE :

BRMBmEER izi-g
£16%

BBMBREED RERA #°
175

B (BB e mE P TR IR M T e
ZBZE9) EM
—HBE23N

BB BREED *BHER
EXGACCHEN)

BB BREER REEFEER
EXLACCHEN) BfmE

BB RE R BEERABENR
F10RRABERH FRELELH
RHE28H(EFTAR) WEELERTA?

BB ENEIRE  ERABZESRS

BREHEAIFSHN

CCHEN)
EEErERE19%  FEIBET - BIRE
CHEN) e
BAGTREAIESE HEARRAELE
CHES) ZREER
BERBRE 2R EERBREES
(BT AK) 2015Z201 7B HH)
FEEME

BRAT 2018/19 FiR

131



132

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs and new
interpretation issued but not yet effective

(Continued)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for

which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020

B Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the Directors anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs and new interpretation
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. In addition, HKFRS 16 requires sales and leaseback
transactions to be determined based on the requirements of
HKFRS 15 as to whether the transfer of the relevant asset
should be accounted as a sale. HKFRS 16 also includes
requirements relating to subleases and lease modifications.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 #,Z 201946 A30H (- &

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. EA#HI RLETEBH K

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs and new
interpretation issued but not yet effective

(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are
removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model
where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to
be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-term
leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The
lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently,
the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments,
as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others.
For the classification of cash flows, the Group currently
presents operating lease payments as operating cash flows.
Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to
lease liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest
portion which will be presented as financing cash flows by
the Group, upfront prepaid lease payments will continue to be
presented as investing or operating cash flows in accordance
to the future, as appropriate.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs and new
interpretation issued but not yet effective

(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable
to lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to require
a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or a
finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 30 June 2019, the Group has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of HK$1,166,279,000 as disclosed in
note 40. A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these
leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 /E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs and new
interpretation issued but not yet effective

(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of HK$49,521,000 as rights and obligations under
leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition
of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not
payments relating to the right to use the underlying assets,
accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits may
be adjusted to amortised cost. Adjustments to refundable
rental deposits paid would be considered as additional lease
payments and included in the carrying amount of right-of-use
assets.

The application of new requirements may result in changes
in measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated
above. The Group elects the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply this
standard to contracts that were not previously identified as
containing a lease applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4.
Therefore, the Group will not reassess whether the contracts
are, or contain a lease which already existed prior to the
date of initial application. Furthermore, the Group elects the
modified retrospective approach for the application of HKFRS
16 as lessee and recognises the cumulative effect of initial
application to opening accumulated losses without restating
comparative information.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs and new
interpretation issued but not yet effective

(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a

Business

The amendments clarify the definition of a business and
provide additional guidance with the objective of assisting
entities to determine whether a transaction should be
accounted for as a business combination or an asset
acquisition. Furthermore, an optional concentration test is
introduced to permit a simplified assessment of whether
an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business.
The amendments will be mandatorily effective to the Group
prospectively for acquisition transactions completed on or after
1 July 2020.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition
of Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations
in making materiality judgements. The amendments also
align the definition across all HKFRSs and will be mandatorily
effective for the Group's annual period beginning on 1 July
2020. The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group but may affect the presentation and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z%2019%6 A30H IFF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR BRI R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXAESHBE@m

(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value oh - BB BEHEmE - AFEETER

measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on BATEFEZHABIBAIEREER

the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements BABBEHSAFTEFEZERBEE kY
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair WMAE—N F_R/XE=H - Haw

value measurement in its entirety, which are described as T

follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active e FRMABBAEENIEH
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity A AESHEREEREER
can access at the measurement date; ERTMIEZ RECRERHE)

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices e F_AWMABBAMEENEE
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset B EE R 2 EA SR
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and (BE—BABENRERIN) - &

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or e FoRBMABBAEEXAEREN
liability. DA ESR g ABUE o

The principal accounting policies are set out below. FESHBEFINDOT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z%2019%6 A30H IFF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z%2019%6 A30H IFF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at
the acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);
and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured
in accordance with that standard.

BEARSHBE®@®

EBast

WIE R BRI IEEARR - XA 0T
BRENKNERATFESNE - MtEA
RAKERBRENEE - AKE AU
BHREBEARMNNABERAEE SR
R W 0 PR B RE T BT AR R R
WHE B MM AT EARE - WEABKA
BERNELRINMES AR -

RUEE B H - FTUREE AT 38R & 2 B P
BERBRATERR  ETIERIN

e EBEMBEEEXEBELEEER
MZHEENEESARE 97
BIERBGTERNE 125 EH
MEBGERE19RESEFF
R M=

o BRI TT B LABRAD 1 R R B K
7R 5 B /S ER AR U 8 7 1 DA R £
R R AT AT S B9 PARR 3 N SR &
HEREMABRBATA R
BEMRBRSYHRELERE2
AT E(R TXEFEER) &

o REBEFBMHEREERFELHRAFIF
HENFRBEERBKILLE
EHDERFFERENEE (K
S RBZAELFE -

BIRRLA R AT 2018/19 £}

141



142

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit
or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z%2019%6 A30H IFF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-
generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of
cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is
measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
(or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investments in associates and a joint
venture

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and a
joint venture are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint venture used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses
of an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group's interest
in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR BRI R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z%2019%6 A30H IFF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investments in associates and a joint
venture (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not
related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the asset (or
disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed
sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of
control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that
subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group will
retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after
the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs of disposal.

Revenue from contracts with customers
(upon application of HKFRS 15 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 /E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(upon application of HKFRS 15 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(upon application of HKFRS 15 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

(Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a

performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’'s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 July 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group's activities, as described
below.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed.

Income from the distribution of own produced films is
recognised when the production is completed, the film has
been released and distributed to the cinema circuit and the
amount can be measured reliably, which is generally when the
cinema circuit confirms to the Group its share of box office
receipts.

Income from the licensing of the distribution rights over
films is recognised when the Group’s entitlement to such
payments has been established which, subject to the terms of
the relevant agreements, is usually upon delivery of the film
negatives to the customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR BRI R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 /E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 July 2018)

(Continued)

Amounts received for the distribution rights over films before
completion and delivery of production are accounted for as
receipts in advance.

Income from box office takings for film exhibition is recognised
upon the sale of tickets and when the film is released.

Income from advertising service is recognised upon the
provision of the services. Service income is recognised when
services are provided.

Income from the screen advertising is recognised when
relevant advertisements and programmes are exhibited
pursuant to the terms of the relevant agreements.

Income from post-production service is recognised upon the
provision of the services. Services income is recognised when
services are provided.

Membership income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the membership period.

Income from investments in film/drama production is
recognised when the Group’s entitlement to such payments
has been established which, subject to the terms of the
relevant agreements.

Interest income is accrued on a time apportionment basis,
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals
arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in
the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as
a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except
where another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 /E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.,e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 /E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment

transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve). At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate
of the number of equity instruments expected to vest based
on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z%2019%6 A30H IFF /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interest in a joint venture, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interest are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z%2019%6 A30H IFF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z%2019%6 A30H IFF /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such
construction in progress is classified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property assets, commences when
the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets other than construction in progress less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 /E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Film and television rights and film and
television series production in progress

Film and television rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any).
The Group amortises costs of film and television rights in the
same ratio that current period actual revenue (numerator)
bears to estimated total projected revenue (denominator). The
Group begins amortisation of the capitalised costs of film and
television rights when a film or television series is released and
it begins to recognise revenue from that film.

The Group reviews and revises estimates of total projected
revenue and total production costs of film and television
rights at the end of each reporting period. If estimates are
revised, the Group adjusts the amount of total projected
revenue (denominator) from the period when such changes
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Film and television series production in progress is stated at
cost less any provision for impairment losses. Cost includes
all costs associated with the production of films and television
series including remuneration for the film and television series
director, casts and production crew, costumes, insurance,
makeup and hairdressing as well as rental of camera and
lighting equipment. Film and television series production in
progress is transferred to film and television rights when the
film is released.

SUER ER M ERBIIZA AR E AR E
ERBEIR - KABREMEREY

ERBIBERBHNREY BREEFRE
BEIER - HE RRIFEFB - RE
REg ~ fosthan REER G A RBE R
BHEERE - RIFFEZ REABIR
EY LRREREEZNERRE

BIRIREA R /A7) 2018/19 &)

157



158

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Joint arrangements

Joint operations

When a group entity undertakes film production activities
under joint venture arrangements (which do not involve the
establishment of a corporate entity) and shares the ownership
of the film rights upon completion of the production with other
ventures, such film rights are classified as joint operation.
The Group recognises its share of the joint operation and
its share of liabilities incurred jointly with other ventures in
the consolidated statement of financial position, classified
according to their nature.

The Group recognises the income derived from the joint
operation (in accordance with its revenue recognition policy set
out above), together with its share of any expenses incurred in
respect of its interest in the joint operation in its consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business

combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately. Intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with indefinite useful lives are carried at
cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 /E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill (see the
accounting policy in respect of goodwill
above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested
for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of tangible and intangible assets are
estimated individually, when it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill (see the
accounting policy in respect of goodwill
above) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset
is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-
out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z%2019%6 A30H IFF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 since 1 July 2018. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in
note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (the “"FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest

on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR BRI R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 /E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in
note 2) (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer
credit impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains and losses” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9
(including trade and other receivables, amounts due from
related companies, pledged bank deposits, and bank balances).
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables without significant financing component. The ECL
on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with
significant balances and/or collectively using a provision matrix
with appropriate groupings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR BRI R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 /E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor's

ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor's ability to meet

its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR BRI R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 /E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & Z201946 A30H It F[Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 /E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a)

(b)

(c)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR BRI R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liguidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 /E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments;
° Past-due status; and

o Nature, size and industry of debtors.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%

ire MR

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 July 2018)

Financial assets are classified into AFS financial assets and
loans and receivables. The classification depends on the nature
and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the
time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales
of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as AFS or are not classified as (a) loans and
receivables or (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial
assets at FVTPL.

Debt securities held by the Group that are classified as AFS
financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Changes in the carrying amount of AFS
debt instruments relating to interest income calculated using
the effective interest method are recognised in profit or
loss. Other changes in the carrying amount of AFS financial
assets are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of AFS revaluation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR BRI R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 /E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EREFTBRm

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including investments in film/drama production,
trade and other receivables, amounts due from related
companies, pledged bank deposits and bank balances and
cash) are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment (see accounting policy
on impairment of financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition
of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9
on 1 July 2018)

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future
cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9
on 1 July 2018) (Continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

° breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group's past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments
in the portfolio past the average credit period, observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 /E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. 25T BUER )

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) €T Hu
Financial assets (Continued) SREE (@)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9
on 1 July 2018) (Continued)

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will
not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired,
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the
period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR BRI R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 /E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EREFTBRm

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, loans
from a related company, amounts due to related companies,
amount due to a joint venture, bank and other borrowings,
bonds payable and deposits received) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Financial liability at FVTPL

Financial liability is classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the Directors are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
within the next financial year.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment loss on film and
television rights and film and television
series production in progress

Management of the Company (“Management”) regularly
reviews the recoverability of the Group’s film and television
rights and film and television series production in progress
with reference to its intended use and current market
environment. Appropriate impairment for estimated
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired.

In determining whether impairment on film and television
rights and film and television series production in progress is
required, the Group takes into consideration the distribution
and license agreements entered into by the Group and the
current market environment to project cash flows expected
to be received through box office receipts and distribution
and licensing income. Impairment loss is recognised in the
period in which the recoverable amount is less than the
carrying amount. The carrying amounts of film and television
rights and film and television series production in progress
as at 30 June 2019 are HK$4,787,000 (2018: HK$1,772,000)
and HK$134,203,000 (2018: HK$140,058,000), respectively.
An impairment loss of HK$4,412,000 (2018: HK$15,378,000)
has been recognised in respect of film and television series
production in progress for the year ended 30 June 2019.
Details are set out in note 20.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 & E201946 A308 -5 E

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Impairment assessment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to
which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the
value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value in
use calc